RIESZ TRANSFORM ON MANIFOLDS AND HEAT KERNEL REGULARITY

BY PASCAL AUSCHER¹, THIERRY COULHON², XUAN THINH DUONG³ AND STEVE HOFMANN

ABSTRACT. – One considers the class of complete non-compact Riemannian manifolds whose heat kernel satisfies Gaussian estimates from above and below. One shows that the Riesz transform is L^p bounded on such a manifold, for p ranging in an open interval above 2, if and only if the gradient of the heat kernel satisfies a certain L^p estimate in the same interval of p's.

© 2004 Elsevier SAS

RÉSUMÉ. – On considère la classe des variétés riemanniennes complètes non compactes dont le noyau de la chaleur satisfait une estimation supérieure et inférieure gaussienne. On montre que la transformée de Riesz y est bornée sur L^p , pour un intervalle ouvert de p au-dessus de 2, si et seulement si le gradient du noyau de la chaleur satisfait une certaine estimation L^p pour le même intervalle d'exposants p. © 2004 Elsevier SAS

Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.1 Background				
	1.2 Main results				
	1.3 Anterior results				
	1.4 About our assumptions				
	1.5 About our method				
2	2 Singular integrals and a variant of the sharp maximal function				
	2.1 The global criterion				
	2.2 The local criterion				
3	3 Application to the Riesz transform				
	3.1 Proof of the main result				
	3.2 A simpler situation				
	3.3 Proofs of some other results				
4	Localization				
5	L^p Hodge decomposition for non-compact manifolds				
6	Final remarks				

¹ Research partially supported by the European Commission (IHP Network "Harmonic Analysis and Related Problems" 2002-2006, Contract HPRN-CT-2001-00273-HARP).

² Research partially supported by Macquarie University and by the European Commission (IHP Network "Harmonic Analysis and Related Problems" 2002-2006, Contract HPRN-CT-2001-00273-HARP).

³ Research partially supported by the ARC.

ANNALES SCIENTIFIQUES DE L'ÉCOLE NORMALE SUPÉRIEURE 0012-9593/06/© 2004 Elsevier SAS. All rights reserved

Acknowledgements	 	
References	 	

1. Introduction

The aim of this article is to give a necessary and sufficient condition for the two natural definitions of homogeneous first order L^p Sobolev spaces to coincide on a large class of Riemannian manifolds, for p in an interval (q_0, p_0) , where $2 < p_0 \leq \infty$ and q_0 is the conjugate exponent to p_0 . On closed manifolds, these definitions are well-known to coincide for all $1 . For non-compact manifolds, and again <math>p_0 = \infty$, a sufficient condition has been asked for by Robert Strichartz in 1983 [92] and many partial answers have been given since. We shall review them in Section 1.3 below. The condition we propose is in terms of regularity of the heat kernel, more precisely in terms of integral estimates of its gradient. We are able to treat manifolds with the doubling property together with natural heat kernel bounds, as well as the ones with locally bounded geometry where the bottom of the spectrum of the Laplacian is positive.

1.1. Background

Let M be a complete non-compact connected Riemannian manifold, μ the Riemannian measure, ∇ the Riemannian gradient. Denote by |.| the length in the tangent space, and by $||.||_p$ the norm in $L^p(M,\mu)$, $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. One defines Δ , the Laplace–Beltrami operator, as a self-adjoint positive operator on $L^2(M,\mu)$ by the formal integration by parts

$$(\Delta f, f) = \left\| |\nabla f| \right\|_2^2$$

for all $f \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(M)$, and its positive self-adjoint square root $\Delta^{1/2}$ by

$$(\Delta f, f) = \|\Delta^{1/2} f\|_2^2.$$

As a consequence,

(1.1)
$$\left\| |\nabla f| \right\|_2^2 = \|\Delta^{1/2} f\|_2^2$$

To identify the spaces defined by (completion with respect to) the seminorms $\||\nabla f|\|_p$ and $\|\Delta^{1/2} f\|_p$ on $\mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(M)$ for some $p \in (1, \infty)$, it is enough to prove that there exist $0 < c_p \leq C_p < \infty$ such that for all $f \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(M)$

(1.2)
$$c_p \|\Delta^{1/2} f\|_p \leq \||\nabla f|\|_p \leq C_p \|\Delta^{1/2} f\|_p.$$

Note that the right-hand inequality may be reformulated by saying that the Riesz transform $\nabla \Delta^{-1/2}$ is bounded from $L^p(M,\mu)$ to the space of L^p vector fields, ¹ in other words

$$(R_p) \qquad \qquad \left\| |\nabla \Delta^{-1/2} f| \right\|_p \leqslant C_p \|f\|_p$$

for some constant C_p and all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$. Note that (R_2) is trivial from (1.1). It is well-known (see [6, Section 4], or [20, Section 2.1]) that the right-hand inequality in (1.2) implies the reverse

¹ In the case where M has finite measure, instead of $L^p(M)$, one has to consider the space $L^p_0(M)$ of functions in $L^p(M)$ with mean zero; this modification will be implicit in what follows.

inequality

$$\|\Delta^{1/2} f\|_q \leqslant C_p \||\nabla f|\|_q,$$

for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$, where q is the conjugate exponent of p. Hence, (1.2) for all p with 1 $follows from <math>(R_p)$ for all p with $1 . More generally, if <math>(R_p)$ holds for $1 (with <math>2 < p_0 \le \infty$), one obtains the equivalence (1.2) and the identification of first order Sobolev spaces for $q_0 , <math>q_0$ being the conjugate exponent to p_0 .

Under local assumptions on the manifold, one can hope for the inhomogeneous analog of the equivalence (1.2), namely

(1.3)
$$c_p(\|\Delta^{1/2}f\|_p + \|f\|_p) \leq \||\nabla f|\|_p + \|f\|_p \leq C_p(\|\Delta^{1/2}f\|_p + \|f\|_p),$$

for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$. It suffices then to study the boundedness on L^p of the local Riesz transform $\nabla(\Delta + a)^{-1/2}$ for some a > 0 large enough. If, in addition, the bottom of the spectrum of the Laplace–Beltrami is positive, that is, if

(1.4)
$$\left\| |\nabla f| \right\|_2 \ge \lambda \|f\|_2$$

for some positive real number λ and all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$, one can recover (1.2) from (1.3) (see [18, p. 1154]).

1.2. Main results

Let us first recall the result of [18] which deals with (R_p) for 1 . Denote by <math>B(x,r) the open ball of radius r > 0 and center $x \in M$, and by V(x,r) its measure $\mu(B(x,r))$. One says that M satisfies the doubling property if for all $x \in M$ and r > 0

(D)
$$V(x,2r) \leqslant C V(x,r).$$

Denote by $p_t(x, y), t > 0, x, y \in M$, the heat kernel of M, that is the kernel of the heat semigroup $e^{-t\Delta}$. One says that M satisfies the on-diagonal heat kernel upper estimate if

(DUE)
$$p_t(x,x) \leqslant \frac{C}{V(x,\sqrt{t})},$$

for all $x \in M$, t > 0 and some constant C > 0.

THEOREM 1.1. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold. Assume that (D) and (DUE) hold. Then the Riesz transform is bounded on L^p for 1 .

It is also shown in [18] that the Riesz transform is unbounded on L^p for every p > 2 on the manifold consisting of two copies of the Euclidean plane glued smoothly along their unit circles, although it satisfies (D) and (DUE). A stronger assumption is therefore required in order to extend Theorem 1.1 to the range p > 2.

It is well-known [46, Theorem 1.1] that, under (D), (DUE) self-improves into the offdiagonal upper estimate:

(UE)
$$p_t(x,y) \leqslant \frac{C}{V(y,\sqrt{t})} \exp\left(-c\frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}\right).$$

for all $x, y \in M$, t > 0 and some constants C, c > 0. A natural way to strengthen the assumption is to impose a lower bound of the same size, that is the full Li–Yau type estimates

$$(LY) \qquad \frac{c}{V(y,\sqrt{t})} \exp\left(-C\frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}\right) \leqslant p_t(x,y) \leqslant \frac{C}{V(y,\sqrt{t})} \exp\left(-c\frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}\right),$$

for all $x, y \in M$, t > 0 and some constants C, c > 0. It is known since [63] that such estimates hold on manifolds with non-negative Ricci curvature. Later, it has been proved in [84] that (LY)is equivalent to the conjunction of (D) and the Poincaré inequalities (P) which we introduce next.

We say that M satisfies the (scaled) Poincaré inequalities if there exists C > 0 such that, for every ball B = B(x, r) and every f with $f, \nabla f$ locally square integrable,

(P)
$$\int_{B} |f - f_B|^2 d\mu \leqslant Cr^2 \int_{B} |\nabla f|^2 d\mu,$$

where f_E denotes the mean of f on E.

However, it follows from the results in [58] and [22] that even (D) and (P) do not suffice for the Riesz transform to be bounded on L^p for all p > 2.

In fact, there is also an easy necessary condition for (R_p) to hold. Indeed, (R_p) implies

$$\left\| |\nabla e^{-t\Delta} f| \right\|_p \leqslant C_p \|\Delta^{1/2} e^{-t\Delta} f\|_p \leqslant \frac{C'_p}{\sqrt{t}} \|f\|_p,$$

for all t > 0, $f \in L^p(M, \mu)$, since, according to [89], the heat semigroup is analytic on $L^p(M, \mu)$. And this estimate may not hold for all p > 2, even in presence of (D) and (P).

Our main result is that, under (D) and (P), this condition is sufficient for (R_q) , 2 < q < p. Denote by $||T||_{p \to p}$ the norm of a bounded sublinear operator T from $L^p(M, \mu)$ to itself.

THEOREM 1.2. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying (D) and (P) (or, equivalently, (LY)). If for some $p_0 \in (2, \infty]$ there exists C > 0 such that, for all t > 0,

$$(G_{p_0}) \qquad \qquad \left\| |\nabla e^{-t\Delta}| \right\|_{p_0 \to p_0} \leqslant \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}}$$

then the Riesz transform is bounded on L^p for 2 .

We therefore obtain the announced necessary and sufficient condition as follows.

THEOREM 1.3. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying (D) and (P) (or, equivalently, (LY)). Let $p_0 \in (2, \infty]$. The following assertions are equivalent:

(1) For all $p \in (2, p_0)$, there exists C_p such that

$$\left\| |\nabla e^{-t\Delta}| \right\|_{p \to p} \leqslant \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}},$$

for all t > 0 (in other words, (G_p) holds for all $p \in (2, p_0)$). (2) The Riesz transform $\nabla \Delta^{-1/2}$ is bounded on L^p for $p \in (2, p_0)$.

Notice that we do not draw a conclusion for $p = p_0$. It has been shown in [58] that there exist (singular) manifolds, namely conical manifolds with closed basis, such that (R_p) hold if

 $1 , but not for <math>p \ge p_0$, for some $p_0 \in (2, \infty)$, and it has been observed in [22] that these manifolds do satisfy (D) and (P); in that case, (G_{p_0}) does not hold either. Strictly speaking, these manifolds are not complete, since they have a point singularity. But one may observe that our proofs do not use completeness in itself, but rather stochastic completeness, that is the property

(1.5)
$$\int_{M} p_t(x,y) \, d\mu(y) = 1, \quad \forall x \in M, \ t > 0,$$

which does hold for complete manifolds satisfying (D), or more generally condition (E) below (see [43]), but also for conical manifolds with closed basis.

It follows from Theorems 1.3 and 1.1 that the assumptions of Theorem 1.3 are sufficient for (R_p) to hold for $p \in (1, p_0)$, and for the equivalence (1.2) to hold for $p \in (q_0, p_0)$ where q_0 is the conjugate exponent to p_0 . In the case $p_0 = \infty$, one can formulate a sufficient condition for (R_p) and (1.2) in the full range 1 in terms of pointwise bounds of the heat kernel and its gradient.

THEOREM 1.4. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying (D) and (DUE). If there exists C such that, for all $x, y \in M$, t > 0,

(G)
$$\left|\nabla_x p_t(x,y)\right| \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}[V(y,\sqrt{t})]},$$

then the Riesz transform is bounded on L^p and the equivalence (1.2) holds for 1 .

We have seen that under (D), (DUE) implies (UE), which, together with (G), implies the full estimate (LY) (see for instance [63]). We shall see in Section 3.3 that (G) implies (G_p) for all $p \in (2, \infty)$. This is why Theorem 1.4 is a corollary of Theorems 1.3 and 1.1.

Our results admit local versions. We say that M satisfies the exponential growth property (E) if for all $r_0 > 0$, for all $x \in M$, $\theta > 1$, $r \leq r_0$,

(E)
$$V(x,\theta r) \leqslant m(\theta)V(x,r),$$

where $m(\theta) = Ce^{c\theta}$ for some $C \ge 0$ and c > 0 depending on r_0 . Note that this implies the local doubling property (D_{loc}) : for all $r_0 > 0$ there exists C_{r_0} such that for all $x \in M$, $r \in (0, r_0)$,

$$(D_{\text{loc}}) V(x,2r) \leqslant C_{r_0} V(x,r).$$

We write (DUE_{loc}) for the property (DUE) restricted to small times (say, $t \leq 1$).

We say that M satisfies the local Poincaré property (P_{loc}) if for all $r_0 > 0$ there exists C_{r_0} such that for every ball B with radius $r \leq r_0$ and every function f with $f, \nabla f$ square integrable on B,

$$(P_{\text{loc}}) \qquad \qquad \int_{B} |f - f_B|^2 \, d\mu \leqslant C_{r_0} r^2 \int_{B} |\nabla f|^2 \, d\mu$$

THEOREM 1.5. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying (E) and (P_{loc}) . If for some $p_0 \in (2, \infty]$ and $\alpha \ge 0$, and for all t > 0,

$$(G_{p_0}^{\text{loc}}) \qquad \qquad \left\| |\nabla e^{-t\Delta}| \right\|_{p_0 \to p_0} \leqslant \frac{Ce^{\alpha t}}{\sqrt{t}}.$$

then the local Riesz transform $\nabla(\Delta + a)^{-1/2}$ is bounded on L^p for $2 and <math>a > \alpha$.

As a consequence, we can state the

THEOREM 1.6. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying (E) and (P_{loc}) . Let $p_0 \in (2, \infty]$. Then the following assertions are equivalent:

(1) For all $p \in (2, p_0)$, all t > 0 and some $\alpha \ge 0$

$$\left\| |\nabla e^{-t\Delta}| \right\|_{p \to p} \leqslant \frac{C_p e^{\alpha t}}{\sqrt{t}}.$$

(2) The local Riesz transform $\nabla(\Delta + a)^{-1/2}$ is bounded on L^p for 2 and some <math>a > 0.

Taking into account the local result in [18], and denoting by (G_{loc}) condition (G) restricted to small times, the main corollary for the full range 1 is

THEOREM 1.7. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying (E), (DUE_{loc}) and (G_{loc}) . Then, for a > 0 large enough, the local Riesz transform $\nabla(\Delta + a)^{-1/2}$ is bounded on L^p and the equivalence (1.3) holds for 1 .

Finally, thanks to the argument in [18, p. 1154], one obtains

THEOREM 1.8. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying (E), (P_{loc}) and (1.4). Assume that $(G_{p_0}^{\text{loc}})$ holds for some $p_0 \in (2, \infty]$. Then (R_p) holds for all $p \in (1, p_0)$, and (1.2) holds for all $p \in (q_0, p_0)$, where q_0 is the conjugate exponent to p_0 .

and, in particular,

THEOREM 1.9. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying (E), (DUE_{loc}) , (G_{loc}) and (1.4). Then (1.2) holds for all p, 1 .

The core of this paper is concerned with the proof of Theorems 1.2 and 1.4 and of their local versions Theorems 1.5 and 1.7. Before going into details, we comment on anterior results, on the nature of our assumptions, and on our method.

1.3. Anterior results

The state of the art consists so far of a list of (quite interesting and typical) examples with *ad hoc* proofs rather than a general theory. These examples essentially fall into three categories:

- I. Global statements for manifolds with at most polynomial growth
 - 1. manifolds with non-negative Ricci curvature [7,8];
 - 2. Lie groups with polynomial volume growth endowed with a sublaplacian [1];
 - 3. co-compact covering manifolds with polynomial growth deck transformation group [32];
 - 4. conical manifolds with compact basis without boundary [58].
- II. A local statement
 - 5. manifolds with Ricci curvature bounded below [7,8].
- III. Global statements for manifolds where the bottom of the spectrum is positive
 - 6. Cartan–Hadamard manifolds where the Laplace operator is strictly positive, plus bounds on the curvature tensor and its two first derivatives [65];
 - 7. unimodular, non-amenable Lie groups [68].

Note that, for results concerning Lie groups in the above list, one can consider not only the case where they are endowed with a translation-invariant Riemannian metric, but also the case where they are endowed with a sublaplacian, that is a sum of squares of invariant vector fields satisfying the Hörmander condition. For more on this, see for instance [1]. Although we did not introduce this framework, for the sake of brevity, our proofs do work without modification in this setting also, as well as, more generally, on a manifold endowed with a subelliptic sum of squares of vector fields.

In cases I and III, the conclusion is the boundedness of the Riesz transform, hence the seminorms equivalence (1.2), for all $p \in (1, \infty)$.

In case II, the conclusion involves local Riesz transforms, or the equivalence (1.3) of inhomogeneous Sobolev norms. Note that an important feature of Bakry's result in this case (say, [7, Theorem 4.1]) is the weakness of the assumption: neither positivity of the injectivity radius nor bounds on the derivatives of the curvature tensor are assumed. By contrast, for bounded geometry manifolds, (1.3) follows easily from the Euclidean result by patching.

We feel that there is a logical order between I, II, III: the results in II are nothing but local versions of I, and III follows easily from II if one uses the additional assumption on the spectrum of the Laplace operator. One may observe that the above results were in fact obtained in a quite different chronological order.

The results in I are covered by Theorem 1.4, the one in II by Theorem 1.7, and the ones in III by Theorem 1.9. Let us explain now in each of the above situations where the required assumptions come from.

In case 1, the doubling property follows from Bishop–Gromov volume comparison [12, Theorem 3.10], and the heat kernel bounds including (G) from [63]. Note however that an important additional outcome of Bakry's method in [7,8] (see also [6] for a more abstract setting) is the independence of constants with respect to the dimension. See the comments in Section 6.

In case 2, the doubling property is obvious, the heat kernel upper bound follows from [98] (but one has nowadays much simpler proofs, see for instance [21] for an exposition), and the gradient bound from [83]. The proof in [1] is much more complicated than ours; it requires some structure theory of Lie groups as well as a substantial amount of homogeneization theory.

In case 3, (D) is again obvious since such a manifold has polynomial volume growth, (DUE) is well known (it can be extracted from the work of Varopoulos, see for instance [99], but nowadays one can write down a simpler proof by using [16] or [24]; see for instance [47, Theorem 7.12]) and (G) is proved in [32]. (Added after acceptation: another simpler proof of (G) has been proposed recently in [34].) The boundedness of the Riesz transform is directly deduced in [32] by using further specific properties of this situation.

In case 4, the boundedness of the Riesz transform is obtained for a range $(1, p_0)$ of values of p, and is shown to be false outside this range. It follows from [59] that (G_p) holds for 1 ,hence yielding with our result a simple proof of the main results in [58]. By direct estimates from $below on <math>\nabla e^{-t\Delta}$ as in [59], one can also recover the negative results for $p \ge p_0$ (see [22]).

Cases 6, 7 are covered by Theorem 1.9. In case 6, we get rid of specific regularity assumptions on the curvature tensor. As far as case 7 is concerned, for more recent results related to Lie groups with exponential growth, see [69,70,42,52]. Note that the groups considered there are either non-unimodular or non-amenable, which allows reduction to a local problem by use of the positivity of the bottom of the spectrum.

Let us finally mention a few results which are *not* covered by our methods: in [58], conical manifolds with compact basis with boundary are considered; in that case, the conical manifold is not complete. The case where the basis is non-compact has been considered in [58], and studied further in [61]; here the volume of balls with finite radius may even be infinite. In [60], the L^p boundedness of the Riesz transform for all $p \in (1, \infty)$ is obtained for a specific class

of manifolds with exponential volume growth, namely cuspidal manifolds with compact basis without boundary. In [64], Theorem 2.4, the boundedness of Riesz transform for p > 2 is proved for a class of Riemannian manifolds with a certain amount of negative curvature; here doubling is not assumed, and the main tool is Littlewood–Paley theory, as in [20].

1.4. About our assumptions

We discuss here the meaning and relevance of our assumptions.

Let us begin with the basic assumptions on the heat kernel. The two assumptions (D) and (DUE) in Theorem 1.1 are equivalent, according to [44], to the so-called relative Faber–Krahn inequality

0/

(FK)
$$\lambda_1(\Omega) \ge \frac{c}{r^2} \left(\frac{V(x,r)}{\mu(\Omega)}\right)^{2/\nu},$$

for some $c, \nu > 0$, all $x \in M$, r > 0, Ω smooth subset of B(x, r). Here $\lambda_1(\Omega)$ is the first eigenvalue of the Laplace operator on Ω with Dirichlet boundary conditions:

$$\lambda_1(\Omega) = \inf \left\{ \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2}{\int_{\Omega} u^2}, \ u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega) \right\}.$$

In the sequel, we shall sometimes denote by (FK) the conjunction of (D) and (DUE). Also, we have recalled that the conjunction of (D) and (P) is equivalent to (LY). It is worthwhile to note that, contrary to the non-negativity of the Ricci curvature, (D) and (P) are invariant under quasi-isometry, which is not obvious to check directly on (LY).

We may question the relevance of this group of assumptions to Riesz transform bounds; as a matter of fact, (G_p) is needed but neither (FK) for p < 2 in [18] nor (D) and (P) for p > 2 are known to be necessary. However, it seems out of reach as of today to prove such bounds without some minimal information on the heat kernel. These assumptions are reasonable for the moment but we think they can be weakened. One direction is to replace the doubling condition by exponential volume growth (without positivity of the bottom of the spectrum). This would mean extending the Calderón–Zygmund theory to the exponential growth realm. A very promising tentative in this direction is in [52], although the method has been so far only applied to a (typical) class of Lie groups having a positive bottom of the spectrum. Another direction is to pursue [20] by using Littlewood–Paley–Stein functionals and prove the conjecture stated there. Again, see the comments in Section 6.

Concerning (P), a minor improvement of our assumptions is that, under (FK) and (G_{p_0}) , it may certainly be relaxed to L^r Poincaré inequalities for r large enough so as to guarantee some control on the oscillation of the heat kernel. We have not tried to go into this direction here. On the other hand, if the manifold has polynomial volume growth, then as soon as such weak Poincaré inequalities hold, (P) is necessary for the Riesz transform to be bounded on L^p for plarger than the volume growth exponent (see [17, Section 5]).

We continue with estimates on the gradient of the heat kernel.

First, we can reformulate the necessary and sufficient condition in Theorem 1.3 in terms of integral bounds on the gradient of the heat kernel, thanks to the following proposition proved in Section 3.3.

PROPOSITION 1.10. – Assume that M is a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying (FK). Let $2 < p_0 \leq \infty$. The following assertions are equivalent: (1) (G_p) holds for all 2 .

(2) For all $2 , for all <math>y \in M$ and t > 0

(1.6)
$$\left\| |\nabla_x p_t(.,y)| \right\|_p \leq \frac{C_p}{\sqrt{t} [V(y,\sqrt{t})]^{1-\frac{1}{p}}}.$$

As one can see, the case $p = \infty$ is excluded from this statement. When $p = \infty$, (1.6) is precisely (G) in Theorem 1.4 on which we concentrate now. Consider two other conditions on $\nabla_x p_t(x, y)$:

(1.7)
$$\sup_{t>0, x\in M} \sqrt{t} \int_{M} \left| \nabla_{x} p_{t}(x,y) \right| d\mu(y) < \infty.$$

(1.8)
$$\left|\nabla_x p_t(x,y)\right| \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}V(y,\sqrt{t})} \exp\left(-c\frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}\right),$$

for all $t > 0, x, y \in M$.

It is easy to show that, under (FK), $(1.8) \Rightarrow (1.7) \Rightarrow (G)$. Indeed $(1.8) \Rightarrow (1.7)$ is immediate by integration using (D). Let us note that (1.7) is equivalent to

$$(G_{\infty}) \qquad \qquad \left\| |\nabla e^{-t\Delta}| \right\|_{\infty \to \infty} \leqslant \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}}.$$

Note in passing that, by interpolation with (G_2) , (G_∞) implies (G_p) for all $p \in (2, \infty)$. Then, $(1.7) \Rightarrow (G)$ follows by writing

$$\nabla_x p_t(x,y) = \int\limits_M \nabla_x p_{t/2}(x,z) p_{t/2}(z,y) \, d\mu(z)$$

and by direct estimates using (UE). One can see that in fact, under (D), (1.7) is equivalent to (1.8), but this is another story (see [25]).

Next, it is interesting to observe that the size estimates (LY) do include already some regularity estimates for the heat kernel, and that (G) is nothing but a slightly stronger form of this regularity. More precisely, the estimates (LY) are equivalent to a so-called uniform parabolic Harnack principle (see [85]) and, by the same token, they imply

(1.9)
$$\left| p_t(x,y) - p_t(z,y) \right| \leqslant \left(\frac{d(x,z)}{\sqrt{t}} \right)^{\alpha} \frac{C}{V(y,\sqrt{t})},$$

for some C, c > 0, $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, and all $x, y, z \in M, t > 0$. The additional assumption (G) is nothing but the limit case $\alpha = 1$ of (1.9). One can therefore summarize the situation by saying that the Hölder regularity of the heat kernel, yielded by the uniform parabolic Harnack principle, is not enough in general for the Riesz transform to be bounded on all L^p spaces, whereas Lipschitz regularity does suffice.

Unfortunately, (G) does not have such a nice geometric characterization as (D) and (P). In fact, it is unlikely one can find a geometric description of (G) that is invariant under quasiisometry. It may however be the case that (G), and even more (G_p) , are stable under some kind of perturbation of the manifold, and this certainly deserves investigation.

Let us make a digression. We already observed that (G) and (FK) imply the full (LY) estimates, hence, under (FK), (1.8) is equivalent to

(1.10)
$$\left|\nabla_x p_t(x,y)\right| \leqslant \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}} p_{C't}(x,y)$$

for some constants C, C' > 0. Note that, in the case where C' = 1, this can be reformulated as

(1.11)
$$\left|\nabla_x \log p_t(x,y)\right| \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}},$$

which is one of the fundamental bounds for manifolds with non-negative Ricci curvature (see [63]).

Known methods to prove pointwise gradient estimates include the Li–Yau method ([63], see also [79] for generalizations), as well as coupling [26], and other probabilistic methods (see for instance [76]) including the derivation of Bismut type formulae which enable one to estimate the logarithmic derivative of the heat kernel as in (1.11) (see for instance [39,95,96] and references therein). Unless one assumes non-negativity of the curvature, all these methods are limited so far to small time, more precisely they yield the crucial factor $\frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}$ only for small time. One may wonder which large scale geometric features, more stable and less specific than non-negativity of the Ricci curvature, would be sufficient to ensure a large time version of such estimates. A nice statement is that if M satisfies (FK) and if for all $t > 0, x, y \in M$,

$$\left|\nabla_{x} p_{t}(x,y)\right| \leq C \left|\nabla_{y} p_{t}(x,y)\right|$$

then (1.8) (therefore (G)) holds ([45, Theorem 1.3], see also the first remark after Lemma 3.3 in Section 3.2). Another interesting approach is in [32], where (G) is deduced from a discrete regularity estimate, but here a group invariance is used in a crucial way; see also related results in [54]. The question of finding weaker sufficient conditions for the integrated estimates (G_p) is so far completely open.

We note that our work is not the first example of the phenomenon that higher integrability of gradients of solutions is related to the L^p boundedness of singular integrals. Indeed, the property that the gradient of the heat kernel satisfies an L^p bound can be thought of as analogous to the estimate of Norman Meyers [75] concerning the higher integrability of gradients of solutions, which in turn is connected to Caccioppoli inequalities and reverse Hölder inequalities. It has been pointed out by T. Iwaniec in [56] that L^p reverse Hölder/Caccioppoli inequalities for solutions to a divergence form elliptic equation Lu = f are equivalent (at least up to endpoints) to the L^p boundedness of the Hodge projector $\nabla L^{-1} \operatorname{div}^2$ Our result, which says that the L^p boundedness of the gradient of the heat semigroup is equivalent (again up to endpoints), to the L^p boundedness of the Riesz transform, is thus in the same spirit.

Let us finally connect (1.8) with properties of the heat kernel on 1-forms. In [19,20], the boundedness of the Riesz transform on L^p is proved for 2 under <math>(FK) and the assumption that the heat kernel on 1-forms is dominated by the heat kernel on functions: for

² Added after acceptation: in fact, a recent work by Z. Shen [87] shows that reverse Hölder inequalities are equivalent to L^p boundedness of the Hodge projector and also to the L^p boundedness of the Riesz transform $\nabla L^{-1/2}$ when p > 2 and L is a real symmetric uniformly elliptic operator $-\operatorname{div}(A\nabla)$ on Lipschitz domains of \mathbb{R}^n . For this, he states a general theorem akin to our Theorem 2.1 and attributes the method of proof to ideas of Caffarelli–Peral [10]. In a subsequent paper [5], the two first-named authors of the present article will extend these ideas to the manifold setting and prove actually that there always is some $p_0 > 2$ for which our Theorem 1.3 applies.

all $t > 0, \, \omega \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}T^*M$,

 $|e^{-t\vec{\Delta}}\omega| \leqslant Ce^{-ct\Delta}|\omega|$

(the case C = c = 1 of this estimate corresponds to non-negative Ricci curvature). It would certainly be interesting to investigate the class of manifolds where this domination condition holds; unfortunately, this is in general too strong a requirement, since for instance it does not hold for nilpotent Lie groups, as is shown in [80,81], whereas on such groups the Riesz transforms are known to be bounded on L^p for all $p \in (1, \infty)$ [1].

It is conjectured in [20] that the same result is true under a weak commutation between the gradient and the semigroup (since commutation is too much to ask, of course) that is the restriction of the above domination condition to *exact* forms: for all t > 0, $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$,

$$|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f| \leqslant C e^{-ct\Delta} |\nabla f|,$$

and even its weaker, but more natural, L^2 version:

(1.12)
$$|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f|^2 \leqslant C e^{-ct\Delta} (|\nabla f|^2).$$

(Added after acceptation: we mention a paper by Driver and Melcher [31] where the L^p versions of such inequalities (with c = 1) are proved on the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^1 for all p > 1 by probabilistic methods.) This is what we prove here, in the class of manifolds with (FK), as a consequence of Theorem 1.4, since then (1.12) is equivalent to (1.8) as we show in Lemma 3.3, Section 3.2, when we give a simpler argument for proving Theorem 1.4 with (1.8) instead of (G).

1.5. About our method

Let us emphasize several features of our method.

First, we develop an appropriate machinery to treat operators beyond the classical Calderón–Zygmund operators. Indeed, our operators no longer have Hölder continuous kernels, as this is often too demanding in applications: the kernel of the Riesz transform is formally given by

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \nabla_x p_t(x,y) \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}},$$

and condition (G) is just an upper bound which does not require Hölder regularity on $\nabla_x p_t(x, y)$ in a spatial variable. Geometrically, this makes a big difference since pointwise upper bounds on the oscillation in x of $\nabla_x p_t(x, y)$ seem fairly unrealistic for large time (see [62]). The loss of Hölder continuity is compensated by a built-in regularity property from the semigroup $e^{-t\Delta}$. Such an idea, which originates from [51], has been formalised in [35] for boundedness results in the range 1 and is actually used in [18] to derive Theorem 1.1. However, this methoddoes not apply to our situation as <math>p > 2; a duality argument would not help us either as we would have to make assumptions on the semigroup acting on 1-forms as explained in Section 1.4; this would bring us back to the state of the art in [20] (see [88] for this approach to the results in [20]). But recently, it was shown in [72] that this regularity property can be used for L^p results in the range p > 2 by employing good- λ inequalities as in [41] for an *ad hoc* sharp maximal function; this may be seen as the basis to an L^{∞} to *BMO* version of the L^1 to weak L^1 theory in [35]. Note that, in this connection, the usual BMO theory requires too strong assumptions and can only work in very special situations (see [13]).

Second, our method works for the usual full range 2 of values of <math>p and also for a limited range 2 . This is important as in applications (to Riesz transforms on manifolds or to other situations, see [2]) the operators may no longer have kernels with pointwise bounds! This is akin to results recently obtained in [9] for <math>p < 2 and non-integral operators, which generalize [35]; in this circle of ideas, see also [53]. Here, we state a general theorem valid in arbitrary range of p's above 2, and its local version (Theorems 2.1 and 2.4, Section 2).

Third, we use very little of the differential structure on manifolds, and in particular we do not use the heat kernel on 1-forms as in [7], [8], or [20]. As a matter of fact, our method is quite general, and enables one to prove the L^p boundedness of a Riesz transform of the form $\nabla L^{-1/2}$ as soon as the following ingredients are available:

1. doubling measure,

2. scaled Poincaré inequalities,

3. $e^{-tL}1 = 1$,

4. ellipticity, a divergence form structure, and "integration by parts" (in other words, the ingredients necessary to prove Caccioppoli type inequalities),

5. L^p boundedness of $\sqrt{t}\nabla e^{-tL}$,

6. L^2 bound for the Riesz transform.

In particular, the method applies equally well to accretive (i.e. elliptic) divergence form operators on \mathbb{R}^n , in which case the L^2 bound is equivalent to the solution of the square root problem of Kato [3]. One of the present authors (Auscher) will present the details of this case (as well as related results) in a forthcoming article [2].

The method is also subject to further extensions to other settings such as general Markov diffusion semigroups on metric measure spaces, or discrete Laplacians on graphs. See Section 6.

2. Singular integrals and a variant of the sharp maximal function

In this section, (M, d, μ) is a measured metric space. We denote as above by B(x, r) the open ball of radius r > 0 and center $x \in M$, which we assume to be always of finite μ -measure. We state and prove a criterion for L^p boundedness, with p > 2, for operators such as singular integrals or quadratic expressions. We also give a local analog of this criterion.

2.1. The global criterion

We say that M satisfies the doubling property (that is (M, d, μ) is of homogeneous type in the terminology of [15]) if there exists a constant C such that, for all $x \in M$, r > 0,

(D)
$$\mu(B(x,2r)) \leqslant C\mu(B(x,r)).$$

Consider a sublinear operator acting on $L^2(M,\mu)$. We are going to prove a general statement that allows one to obtain a bound for its operator norm on $L^p(M,\mu)$ for a fixed p > 2. Such techniques originate, in a Euclidean setting, in [41] (see also [94]) by use of the sharp maximal function and good- λ inequalities. It is proved in [72] that, in the definition of the sharp function, the average over balls can be replaced by more general averaging operators depending on the context, and that the ideas of [41] can be adapted. Our method is based on that of [72].

Denote by \mathcal{M} the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator

$$\mathcal{M}f(x) = \sup_{B \ni x} \frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} |f| \, d\mu,$$

where B ranges over all open balls containing x.

THEOREM 2.1. – Let (M, d, μ) satisfy (D) and let T be a sublinear operator which is bounded on $L^2(M, \mu)$. Let $p_0 \in (2, \infty]$. Let A_r , r > 0, be a family of linear operators acting on $L^2(M, \mu)$. Assume

(2.1)
$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} \left| T(I - A_{r(B)})f \right|^2 d\mu \right)^{1/2} \leq C \left(\mathcal{M}(|f|^2) \right)^{1/2} (x),$$

and

(2.2)
$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)}\int_{B} |TA_{r(B)}f|^{p_{0}} d\mu\right)^{1/p_{0}} \leq C\left(\mathcal{M}\left(|Tf|^{2}\right)\right)^{1/2}(x),$$

for all $f \in L^2(M,\mu)$, all $x \in M$ and all balls $B \ni x$, r(B) being the radius of B. If 2 $and <math>Tf \in L^p(M,\mu)$ when $f \in L^p(M,\mu)$, then T is of strong type (p,p) and its operator norm is bounded by a constant depending only on its (2,2) norm, on the constant in (D), on p and p_0 , and on the constants in (2.1) and (2.2).

Remarks. -

- If $p_0 = \infty$, the left-hand side of (2.2) should be understood as the essential supremum $\sup_{y \in B} |TA_{r(B)}f(y)|$.
- The operators A_r play the role of approximate identities (as $r \to 0$). Notice that the regularized version TA_r of T is controlled by the maximal function of $|Tf|^2$ which may be surprising at first sight since T is the object under study. The improvement from 2 to p_0 in the exponents expresses a regularizing effect of A_r .
- Define, for $f \in L^2(M, \mu)$,

$$\mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#} f(x) = \sup_{B \ni x} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} \left| T(I - A_{r(B)}) f \right|^2 d\mu \right)^{1/2},$$

where the supremum is taken over all balls B in M containing x, and r(B) is the radius of B. This is (a variant of) the substitute to the sharp function alluded to above. Assumption (2.1) means that $\mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#}f$ is controlled pointwise by $(\mathcal{M}(|f|^2))^{1/2}$. In fact, rather than the exact form of the control, what matters is that $\mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#}$ is of strong type (p,p) for the desired values of p.

- Note that we assumed that T was already acting on $L^p(M,\mu)$ and then we obtained boundedness and a bound of its norm. In practice, this theorem is applied to suitable approximations of T, the uniformity of the bound allowing a limiting argument to deduce L^p boundedness of T itself.
- A careful reader will notice that in the proof below, the L^2 bound for T is explicitely used only if M has finite volume; but in practice, the verification of the assumptions (2.1) and (2.2) requires the L^2 boundedness of T (and A_r) anyway.

Let us now prove two lemmas inspired from [72] but with modifications to allow a treatment at a given exponent p and for a right regularization (see the remark after the proof). The first one is a so-called good- λ inequality. For simplicity, we normalize in the following proof the constants in assumptions (2.1) and (2.2) to one.

LEMMA 2.2. – Let (M, d, μ, A_r, p_0) and T be as above. Assume that (2.2) holds. There exist $K_0 > 1$ and C > 0 only depending on p_0 and the constant in (D), such that, for every $\lambda > 0$, every $K > K_0$ and $\gamma > 0$, for every ball B_0 in M and every function $f \in L^2(M, \mu)$ such that there exists $x_0 \in B_0$ with $\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2)(x_0) \leq \lambda^2$, then

(2.3)
$$\mu(\{x \in B_0; \mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2)(x) > K^2\lambda^2, \mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#}f(x) \leq \gamma\lambda\}) \leq C(\gamma^2 + K^{-p_0})\mu(B_0).$$

Proof. – Let us assume first that $p_0 < \infty$. Set

$$E = \left\{ x \in B_0; \ \mathcal{M}\left(|Tf|^2 \right)(x) > K^2 \lambda^2, \ \mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#} f(x) \leq \gamma \lambda \right\}.$$

From (2.2) and the hypothesis that $\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2)(x_0) \leq \lambda^2$, one has

$$\int_{3B_0} |TA_{r_0}f|^{p_0} \, d\mu \leqslant \lambda^{p_0} \mu(3B_0),$$

where $r_0 = r(3B_0)$. Denote

$$\Omega = \left\{ x \in M; \ \mathcal{M}\left(|TA_{r_0}f|^2 \chi_{3B_0} \right)(x) > J^2 \lambda^2 \right\},\$$

where J is a positive constant to be chosen. By the weak type $(p_0/2, p_0/2)$ of the maximal operator, we have

$$\mu(\Omega) \leqslant \frac{C}{J^{p_0} \lambda^{p_0}} \int_{3B_0} |TA_{r_0}f|^{p_0} d\mu \leqslant C J^{-p_0} \mu(3B_0).$$

Now, we want to estimate $\mu(E \setminus \Omega)$. We remark that by definition, if $x \in E \setminus \Omega$, then

(2.4)
$$\mathcal{M}(|TA_{r_0}f|^2\chi_{3B_0})(x) \leqslant J^2\lambda^2.$$

We first prove that there exists c_0 only depending on (D) such that, if $c_0K^2 > 1$, then for every $x \in E$,

(2.5)
$$\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2\chi_{3B_0})(x) > K^2\lambda^2.$$

Indeed, let $x \in E$. Since $\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2)(x) > K^2\lambda^2$, there is a ball B containing x such that

(2.6)
$$\int_{B} |Tf|^2 d\mu > K^2 \lambda^2 \mu(B).$$

If r = 2r(B), one has $B \subset B(x, r) \subset 3B$, hence for c_0 only depending on the doubling condition (D) one has $\mu(B) \ge c_0 \mu(B(x, r))$. Therefore,

(2.7)
$$\int_{B(x,r)} |Tf|^2 d\mu > c_0 K^2 \lambda^2 \mu (B(x,r)).$$

Since $\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2)(x_0) \leq \lambda^2$ and $c_0K^2 > 1$, one can infer that x_0 does not belong to B(x, r). Therefore $r < 2r(B_0)$ and one concludes that $B \subset 3B_0$. Together with (2.6), this yields (2.5).

 $4^e~\text{série} - \text{tome}~37 - 2004 - \text{n}^\circ~6$

Next, choose J such that $2(J^2 + 1) = K^2$. Then we have, for $x \in E \setminus \Omega$,

$$2(J^{2}+1)\lambda^{2} < \mathcal{M}(|Tf|^{2}\chi_{3B_{0}})(x)$$

$$\leq 2\mathcal{M}(|T(f-A_{r_{0}}f)|^{2}\chi_{3B_{0}})(x) + 2\mathcal{M}(|TA_{r_{0}}f|^{2}\chi_{3B_{0}})(x)$$

$$\leq 2\mathcal{M}(|T(I-A_{r_{0}})f|^{2}\chi_{3B_{0}})(x) + 2J^{2}\lambda^{2},$$

and so

$$\mathcal{M}(|T(I-A_{r_0})f|^2\chi_{3B_0})(x) > \lambda^2.$$

Therefore

$$E \setminus \Omega \subset \left\{ x \in M; \ \mathcal{M}(\left| T(I - A_{r_0}) f \right|^2 \chi_{3B_0})(x) > \lambda^2 \right\}.$$

The weak type (1,1) inequality for the Hardy–Littlewood maximal function yields

$$\mu(E \setminus \Omega) \leq \mu(\{x \in M; \mathcal{M}(|T(I - A_{r_0})f|^2\chi_{3B_0})(x) > \lambda^2\})$$

$$\leq \frac{C}{\lambda^2} \int_{M} |T(I - A_{r_0})f|^2\chi_{3B_0} d\mu = \frac{C}{\lambda^2} \int_{3B_0} |T(I - A_{r_0})f|^2 d\mu$$

$$\leq \frac{C}{\lambda^2} \mu(3B_0) (\mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#}f(x))^2 \leq C\gamma^2 \mu(3B_0).$$

In the last two inequalities, we have used that $3B_0$ contains x, and that $x \in E$. Note that C is the weak type (1,1) bound of the maximal operator and, therefore, only depends on (D).

Altogether, we have obtained that

$$\mu(E) \leqslant C(J^{-p_0} + \gamma^2)\mu(3B_0)$$

provided K > 1, $c_0 K^2 > 1$ and $K^2 = 2(J^2 + 1)$. This proves the lemma when $p_0 < \infty$. If $p_0 = \infty$, one deduces from (2.2) that

$$|TA_{r_0}f(x)| \leq \mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2)^{1/2}(x_0) \leq \lambda$$

for μ -a.e. $x \in 3B_0$. Hence

$$\mathcal{M}(|TA_{r_0}f|^2\chi_{3B_0})(x) \leqslant \lambda^2$$

for all $x \in M$, and the set Ω is empty if $J \ge 1$. The rest of the proof proceeds as before. \Box

As in [91, Lemma 2, p. 152], the good- λ inequality yields comparisons of L^p norms as used in [72, Theorem 4.2].

LEMMA 2.3. – Let (M, d, μ, A_r) and T be as above. Assume that (2.2) holds. Then, for $0 , there exists <math>C_p$ such that

(2.8)
$$\left\| \left(\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2) \right)^{1/2} \right\|_p \leq C_p \left(\| \mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#} f \|_p + \| f \|_p \right),$$

for every $f \in L^2(M,\mu)$ for which the left-hand side is finite (if $\mu(M) = \infty$, the term $C_p ||f||_p$ can be dispensed with in the right-hand side of (2.8)).

Proof. – Let $f \in L^2(M, \mu)$ be such that $\|(\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2))^{1/2}\|_p < \infty$. For $\lambda > 0$, set

$$E_{\lambda} = \left\{ x \in M; \ \mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2)(x) > \lambda^2 \right\}.$$

Set $\lambda_0 = 0$ if $\mu(M) = \infty$, $\lambda_0 = \frac{1}{\mu(M)} \int_M \mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2) d\mu$ if $\mu(M) < \infty$. In the latter case, by the Kolmogorov inequality (see [74, p. 250]), (D), and the weak type (1, 1) of \mathcal{M} ,

$$\int_{M} \mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2)^{1/2} d\mu \leqslant C\mu(M)^{1/2} \||Tf|^2\|_1^{1/2} = C\mu(M)^{1/2} \|Tf\|_2$$

Using then the L^2 boundedness of T, we obtain

$$\lambda_0 \leqslant \frac{C}{\mu(M)^{1/2}} \|f\|_2 \leqslant \frac{C'}{\mu(M)^{1/p}} \|f\|_p.$$

Now fix K > 0 to be chosen later, and write

$$\left\| \left(\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2) \right)^{1/2} \right\|_p^p = I_1 + I_2,$$

with

$$\begin{split} I_1 &= \int\limits_{\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2) \leqslant K^2 \lambda_0^2} \left(\mathcal{M}\big(|Tf|^2\big) \right)^{p/2} d\mu, \\ I_2 &= \int\limits_{\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2) > K^2 \lambda_0^2} \left(\mathcal{M}\big(|Tf|^2\big) \right)^{p/2} d\mu. \end{split}$$

Clearly, I_1 is bounded above by

$$K^p \lambda_0^p \mu(M) \leqslant K^p C^p \|f\|_p^p$$

with C depending only on the constant in (D) and the L^2 norm of T. One can treat I_2 as follows. The Whitney decomposition [15, Chapter III, Theorem 1.3] for E_{λ} yields, for $\lambda > \lambda_0$, a family of boundedly overlapping balls B_i such that $E_{\lambda} = \bigcup_i B_i$. There exists c > 1 such that, for all i, cB_i contains at least one point x_i outside E_{λ} , that is

$$\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2)(x_i) \leqslant \lambda^2.$$

Therefore, according to Lemma 2.2 for the balls cB_i , for every $\gamma > 0$ and $K > K_0$

(2.9)
$$\mu(U_{\lambda,i}) \leqslant C(\gamma^2 + K^{-p_0})\mu(B_i),$$

where $U_{\lambda,i} = \{x \in cB_i; \mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2)(x) > K^2\lambda^2, \mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#}f(x) \leq \gamma\lambda\}.$ Let

$$U_{\lambda} = \left\{ x \in M; \ \mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2)(x) > K^2 \lambda^2, \ \mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#}f(x) \leq \gamma \lambda \right\}$$

Then, since K > 1,

$$U_{\lambda} \subset E_{\lambda} \subset \bigcup_{i} (cB_i),$$

thus, for all $\lambda > \lambda_0$,

$$\mu(U_{\lambda}) = \sum_{i} \mu(U_{\lambda,i}) \leqslant C(\gamma^{2} + K^{-p_{0}}) \sum_{i} \mu(B_{i}) \leqslant C'(\gamma^{2} + K^{-p_{0}}) \mu(E_{\lambda}).$$

 4^e série – tome $37 - 2004 - N^\circ 6$

Now

$$\begin{split} I_2 &= K^p \int_{\lambda_0}^{\infty} p \lambda^{p-1} \mu \left\{ \mathcal{M} \left(|Tf|^2 \right) > K^2 \lambda^2 \right\} d\lambda \\ &\leqslant K^p \int_{\lambda_0}^{\infty} p \lambda^{p-1} \left(\mu(U_\lambda) + \mu \left(\left\{ \mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#} f > \gamma \lambda \right\} \right) \right) d\lambda \\ &\leqslant K^p \int_{\lambda_0}^{\infty} p \lambda^{p-1} \left(C'(\gamma^2 + K^{-p_0}) \mu(E_\lambda) + \mu \left(\left\{ \mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#} f > \gamma \lambda \right\} \right) \right) d\lambda \\ &= C'(K^{p-p_0} + K^p \gamma^2) \left\| \left(\mathcal{M} \left(|Tf|^2 \right) \right)^{1/2} \right\|_p^p + K^p \gamma^{-p} \| \mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#} f \|_p^p. \end{split}$$

Since $p < p_0$, one obtains the lemma by choosing first K large enough and then γ small enough. \Box

Now we are ready to prove Theorem 2.1. Let $f \in L^2(M,\mu) \cap L^p(M,\mu)$. Then $Tf \in L^p(M,\mu)$ and by Lemma 2.3

$$||Tf||_p \leq || (\mathcal{M}(|Tf|^2))^{1/2} ||_p \leq C(||\mathcal{M}_{T,A}^{\#}f||_p + ||f||_p).$$

Using (2.1) and the strong type (p/2, p/2) of the maximal function yields

$$||Tf||_p \leqslant C ||f||_p$$

and the conclusion follows by density.

Remark. – We implemented an algorithm with a right regularization of the operator T by looking at TA_r and $T(I - A_r)$. It is also possible to obtain a result with a left regularization by making assumptions on A_r and $(I - A_r)T$.

If one can use duality (that is, if T is linear), one can try to prove L^p boundedness of T^* for some p < 2. Then one can invoke a result in [35] if one wants a result for the full range $1 or its generalization to a limited range <math>p_0 in [9].$

Another way (which covers the sublinear case as well), would be to mimic what we just did using instead the sharp function introduced in [72]. Define for $f \in L^2(M, \mu)$,

$$\mathcal{M}_{A}^{\#}f(x) = \sup_{B \ni x} \frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} |f - A_{r(B)}f| \, d\mu_{A}$$

where the supremum is taken over all balls B in M containing x, and r(B) is the radius of B. Regularizing T from the left means considering $\mathcal{M}^{\#}_{A}(Tf)$.

However, if we were to apply left regularization to the boundedness of Riesz transforms on manifolds, since T takes functions to vector fields (or to 1-forms), A_r would have to be vectorvalued, say, the heat semigroup on 1-forms instead of the heat semigroup on functions as in Section 3 below. Since only the action of A_r on the image of T comes into play, one sees that the needed assumptions on the heat semigroup on 1-forms would only concern its action on *exact* forms; this fits with our purpose, see the discussion at the end of Section 1.4. The advantage of the right regularization is that it is susceptible to be applied to more general situations, where the notion of differential forms is not available.

For more on the applications of the above sharp function, the associated space, and its potential uses in harmonic analysis, see [37].

2.2. The local criterion

The theorem above admits variations towards localization.

Denote by \mathcal{M}_E the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator relative to a measurable subset E of M, that is, for $x \in E$ and f a locally integrable function on M,

$$\mathcal{M}_E f(x) = \sup_{B \ni x} \frac{1}{\mu(B \cap E)} \int_{B \cap E} |f| \, d\mu,$$

where B ranges over all open balls of M containing x and centered in E. If in particular, E is a ball with radius r, it is enough to consider balls B with radii not exceeding 2r.

We say that a subset E of M has the relative doubling property if there exists a constant C_E such that for all $x \in E$ and r > 0 we have

$$\mu(B(x,2r)\cap E) \leqslant C_E \mu(B(x,r)\cap E).$$

In other words, E endowed with the induced distance and measure has the doubling property. The constant C_E is called the relative doubling constant of E. On such a set, \mathcal{M}_E is weak type (1,1) and bounded on $L^p(E,\mu)$, 1 .

THEOREM 2.4. – Let (M, d, μ) be a measured metric space. Let $p_0 \in (2, \infty]$. Suppose that T is a bounded sublinear operator which is bounded on $L^2(M, \mu)$, and let A_r , r > 0, be a family of linear operators acting on $L^2(M, \mu)$. Let E_1 and E_2 be two subsets of M such that E_2 has the relative doubling property, $\mu(E_2) < \infty$ and $E_1 \subset E_2$. Assume that $f \mapsto \mathcal{M}_{E_2,T,A}^{\#} f$ is bounded from $L^p(E_1, \mu)$ into $L^p(E_2, \mu)$ for all $p \in (2, p_0)$, where

(2.10) $(\mathcal{M}_{E_2,T,A}^{\#}f)^2(x) = \sup_{\substack{B \text{ ball in } M, B \ni x}} \frac{1}{\mu(B \cap E_2)} \int_{B \cap E_2} |T(I - A_{r(B)})f|^2 d\mu, \quad x \in E_2,$

and, for some sublinear operator S bounded from $L^p(E_1,\mu)$ into $L^p(E_2,\mu)$ for all $p \in (2,p_0)$,

(2.11)
$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B\cap E_2)}\int_{B\cap E_2}|TA_{r(B)}f|^{p_0}d\mu\right)^{1/p_0} \leq C\left(\mathcal{M}_{E_2}\left(|Tf|^2\right) + (Sf)^2\right)^{1/2}(x),$$

for all $f \in L^2(M,\mu)$ supported in E_1 , all balls B in M and all $x \in B \cap E_2$, where r(B) is the radius of B. If $2 and <math>Tf \in L^p(E_2,\mu)$ whenever $f \in L^p(E_1,\mu)$, then T is bounded from $L^p(E_1,\mu)$ into $L^p(E_2,\mu)$ and its operator norm is bounded by a constant depending only on the operator norm of T on $L^2(M,\mu)$, C_{E_2} , p, p_0 , the operator norms of $\mathcal{M}_{E_2,T,A}^{\#}$ and S on L^p , and the constant in (2.11).

Again, if $p_0 = \infty$ the left-hand side of (2.11) is understood as the essential supremum on B.

The proof of this result is almost identical to that of Theorem 4 once we make some adjustments. The first one is to forget about M and to work directly in the relative space E_2 by replacing systematically T and TA_r by truncations $\chi_{E_2}T\chi_{E_1}$ and $\chi_{E_2}TA_r\chi_{E_1}$. Thus the maximal operator relative to E_2 becomes the maximal operator on E_2 .

The second one is that Lemma 2.2 becomes

 4^e série – tome $37 - 2004 - N^\circ 6$

LEMMA 2.5. – Let $(M, d, \mu, A_r, p_0, E_2, E_1)$ and T be as above. Assume that (2.11) holds. There exist $K_0 > 1$ and C > 0 only depending on C_{E_2} and p_0 , such that, for every $\lambda > 0$, every $K > K_0$ and $\gamma > 0$, for every ball B_0 in M and every function $f \in L^2(E_1, \mu)$ such that there exists $x_0 \in B_0 \cap E_2$ with $\mathcal{M}_{E_2}(|Tf|^2)(x_0) + (Sf)^2(x_0) \leq \lambda^2$, then

$$\mu \left(\left\{ x \in B_0 \cap E_2; \ \mathcal{M}_{E_2} \left(|Tf|^2 \right)(x) > K^2 \lambda^2, \ \mathcal{M}_{E_2,T,A}^{\#} f(x) \leqslant \gamma \lambda \right\} \right) \\ \leqslant C(\gamma^2 + K^{-p_0}) \mu(B_0 \cap E_2).$$

The proof is the same since $Sf \ge 0$ implies $\mathcal{M}_{E_2}(|Tf|^2)(x_0) \le \lambda^2$.

The third one is that the term Sf brings a modification in Lemma 2.3 which becomes

LEMMA 2.6. – Let $(M, d, \mu, A_r, E_2, E_1)$ and T be as above. Assume that (2.11) holds. Then, for 0 ,

$$\left\| \left(\mathcal{M}_{E_2} \left(|Tf|^2 \right) \right)^{1/2} \right\|_{L^p(E_2)} \leqslant C \left(\| \mathcal{M}_{E_2,T,A}^{\#} f \|_{L^p(E_2)} + \| Sf \|_{L^p(E_2)} + \| f \|_{L^p(E_2)} \right),$$

for every $f \in L^2(E_1, \mu)$ for which the left-hand side is finite, where C depends only on p, p_0 and the doubling constant of E_2 (but not on $\mu(E_2)$).

Since $\mu(E_2) < \infty$, the Whitney decomposition in the proof of Lemma 2.3 can be performed for $\lambda > \lambda_0$ with $\lambda_0 = \frac{1}{\mu(E_2)} \int_{E_2} \mathcal{M}_{E_2} (|Tf|^2)^{1/2} d\mu$. Again, by Kolmogorov inequality, the doubling property of E_2 , and the weak type (1,1) of \mathcal{M}_{E_2} (with constant independent of the size of $\mu(E_2)$),

$$\int_{E_2} \mathcal{M}_{E_2} \left(|Tf|^2 \right)^{1/2} d\mu \leqslant C\mu(E_2)^{1/2} \left\| |Tf|^2 \right\|_{L^1(E_2)}^{1/2} = C\mu(E_2)^{1/2} \|Tf\|_{L^2(E_2)}.$$

Using then the L^2 boundedness of T and the support condition of f (this is where we use $E_1 \subset E_2$), we obtain

$$\lambda_0 \leqslant \frac{C}{\mu(E_2)^{1/2}} \|f\|_{L^2(E_2)} \leqslant \frac{C}{\mu(E_2)^{1/p}} \|f\|_{L^p(E_2)}.$$

Now write with the notation of the proof in Lemma 2.3

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left(\mathcal{M}_{E_2} \left(|Tf|^2 \right) \right)^{1/2} \right\|_{L^p(E_2)}^p &= \int_{\mathcal{M}_{E_2} (|Tf|^2) \leqslant K^2 \lambda_0^2} \left(\mathcal{M}_{E_2} \left(|Tf|^2 \right) \right)^{p/2} d\mu \\ &+ \int_{\mathcal{M}_{E_2} (|Tf|^2) > K^2 \lambda_0^2} \left(\mathcal{M}_{E_2} \left(|Tf|^2 \right) \right)^{p/2} d\mu \end{aligned}$$

The last integral can be treated as before, using Lemma 2.5. The first integral is bounded above by

$$K^p \lambda_0^p \mu(E_2) \leqslant K^p C^p \|f\|_{L^p(E_2)}^p$$

with C depending only on the L^2 norm of T and the doubling constant of E_2 . Further details are left to the reader.

3. Application to the Riesz transform

In this section, M is a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold, Δ denotes the Laplace– Beltrami operator, $e^{-t\Delta}$, t > 0, the heat semigroup and $p_t(x, y)$, t > 0, $x, y \in M$, the heat kernel. The measure μ is the induced Riemannian volume. The measure of the ball B(x, r), $x \in M$, r > 0 is also written V(x, r).

We prove the statements corresponding to the (global) Riesz transform $\nabla \Delta^{-1/2}$. We set $Tf = |\nabla \Delta^{-1/2} f|$ (remember that, in the finite volume case, we restrict ourselves to functions with mean zero; in other words, in order to apply verbatim Theorem 2.1, we define $\nabla \Delta^{-1/2}$ by zero on constants). The boundedness of T on L^2 has been already observed.

3.1. Proof of the main result

We now show Theorem 1.2, namely the fact that, under (D) and (P), (G_{p_0}) implies the L^p boundedness of the Riesz transform for 2 , as a consequence of Theorem 2.1.

Recall that Theorem 2.1 applies if T is assumed to act on $L^p(M)$. However, we have

$$\nabla \Delta^{-1/2} = c \int_{0}^{\infty} \nabla e^{-t\Delta} \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}}$$

If we set $T_{\varepsilon}f = |c\int_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon} \nabla e^{-t\Delta} f \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}}|$ for $0 < \varepsilon < 1$, then for $f \in L^2(M)$ we have $||T_{\varepsilon}f||_2 \leq ||f||_2$ (this follows from (1.1) and spectral theory) and $T_{\varepsilon}f \to Tf$ in $L^2(M)$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$, while $||T_{\varepsilon}f||_p \leq C_{\varepsilon}||f||_p$ for $f \in L^p(M)$. As the application of Theorem 2.1 to T_{ε} gives us a uniform bound with respect to ε , a limiting argument yields the L^p boundedness of T on $L^2(M) \cap L^p(M)$, hence on $L^p(M)$. Henceforth, we ignore this approximation step and our goal is now to establish (2.1) and (2.2) for T.

The first ingredient is Gaffney off-diagonal estimates valid in a general Riemannian manifold: There exist two constants $C \ge 0$ and $\alpha > 0$ such that, for every t > 0, every closed subsets E and F of M, and every function f supported in E, one has

(3.1)
$$\|e^{-t\Delta}f\|_{L^{2}(F)} + \|t\Delta e^{-t\Delta}f\|_{L^{2}(F)} + \|\sqrt{t}|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f|\|_{L^{2}(F)}$$
$$\leq Ce^{-\alpha d(E,F)^{2}/t}\|f\|_{L^{2}(E)}.$$

Here, d(E, F) is the distance between the sets E and F. The inequality for the first term of the left-hand side is classical (see, e.g., [27]). The estimate for the second one follows from essentially the same proof (see [28, Lemma 7]). We give a proof for the third one as we could not find it in the literature in this situation (it is proved in [4] for elliptic operators on \mathbb{R}^n).

We assume $d(E,F) > \sqrt{t}$ as otherwise there is nothing to prove. Let \widetilde{F} be the set of those $x \in M$ for which $d(x,F) \leq d(E,F)/3$. Let φ be a smooth function on M such that $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$, φ is supported in \widetilde{F} , $\varphi \equiv 1$ on F, and $|\nabla \varphi| \leq 6/d(E,F)$. Set $A = ||\sqrt{t}\varphi| \nabla e^{-t\Delta} f||_2 \geq ||\sqrt{t}|\nabla e^{-t\Delta} f||_{L^2(F)}$. Integrating by parts,

$$\begin{split} A^2 &= t \langle \varphi^2 \nabla e^{-t\Delta} f, \nabla e^{-t\Delta} f \rangle \\ &= -2t \big\langle (e^{-t\Delta} f) \nabla \varphi, \varphi \nabla e^{-t\Delta} f \big\rangle + t \langle \varphi^2 e^{-t\Delta} f, \Delta e^{-t\Delta} f \rangle \\ &\leq 2\sqrt{t} \big\| |\nabla \varphi| e^{-t\Delta} f \big\|_2 A + \|\varphi e^{-t\Delta} f\|_2 \| t \, \varphi \Delta e^{-t\Delta} f \|_2. \end{split}$$

Using the properties of φ and the bounds for the first two terms in (3.1) we obtain the desired conclusion.

 4^e Série – Tome $37 - 2004 - N^\circ 6$

We now introduce the regularizing operator A_r , r > 0, by setting

$$I - A_r = (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n$$

for some integer n to be chosen. Observe that A_r is bounded on $L^2(M)$ with norm 1. We prove (2.1) in the following lemma.

LEMMA 3.1. – Assume that (D) holds. Then, for some n large enough depending only on (D), for every ball B with radius r > 0 and all $x \in B$,

(3.2)
$$\left\| \left\| \nabla \Delta^{-1/2} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n f \right\|_{L^2(B)} \leq C \mu(B)^{1/2} \left(\mathcal{M}(|f|^2)(x) \right)^{1/2} \right\|_{L^2(B)}$$

Proof. – Let $f \in L^2(M)$. Take a ball B with radius r = r(B) and x a point in B. Denote by C_i the ring $2^{i+1}B \setminus 2^iB$ if $i \ge 2$ and let $C_1 = 4B$. Decompose f as $f_1 + f_2 + f_3 + \cdots$ with $f_i = f\chi_{C_i}$. By the Minkowski inequality we have that

$$\left\| \left\| \nabla \Delta^{-1/2} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n f \right\| \right\|_{L^2(B)} \leqslant \sum_{i \ge 1} \left\| \left| \nabla \Delta^{-1/2} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n f_i \right| \right\|_{L^2(B)}.$$

For i = 1 we use the L^2 boundedness of $\nabla \Delta^{-1/2} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n$:

$$\left\| \left\| \nabla \Delta^{-1/2} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n f_1 \right\| \right\|_{L^2(B)} \leq \|f\|_{L^2(4B)} \leq \mu(4B)^{1/2} \left(\mathcal{M}(|f|^2)(x) \right)^{1/2}$$

For $i \ge 2$ we use the integral representation of $\Delta^{-1/2}$:

$$\nabla \Delta^{-1/2} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n = c \int_0^\infty \nabla e^{-t\Delta} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}} = c \int_0^\infty g_r(t) \nabla e^{-t\Delta} dt,$$

where using the usual notation for the binomial coefficient,

$$g_r(t) = \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} (-1)^k \frac{\chi_{\{t > kr^2\}}}{\sqrt{t - kr^2}}.$$

By the Minkowski integral inequality and Gaffney estimates (3.1), using the support of f_i , we have that

$$\left\| \left| \nabla \Delta^{-1/2} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n f_i \right| \right\|_{L^2(B)} \leq C \left(\int_0^\infty |g_r(t)| e^{-\frac{\alpha' 4^i r^2}{t}} \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}} \right) \|f\|_{L^2(C_i)}.$$

The latter integral can be estimated as follows. Elementary analysis yields the following estimates for g_r :

$$\left|g_r(t)\right| \leqslant \frac{C_n}{\sqrt{t-\ell r^2}} \quad \text{if } 0 \leqslant \ell r^2 < t \leqslant (\ell+1)r^2 \leqslant (n+1)r^2$$

and

$$|g_r(t)| \leq C_n r^{2n} t^{-n-\frac{1}{2}}$$
 if $t > (n+1)r^2$

The latter estimate comes from the inequality

$$\left|\sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} (-1)^{k} \varphi(t-kr^{2})\right| \leqslant C_{n} \sup_{u \geqslant \frac{t}{n+1}} \left|\varphi^{(n)}(u)\right| r^{2n},$$

which can be obtained by expanding $\varphi(t - ks)$ using Taylor's formula about t and using the classical relations $\sum_{k=0}^{n} {n \choose k} (-1)^k k^{\ell} = 0$ for $\ell = 0, ..., n-1$ (see [40, Problem 16, p. 65]). This yields the following estimates, uniformly with respect to r:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \left| g_r(t) \right| e^{-\frac{\alpha' 4^{i} r^2}{t}} \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}} \leqslant C_n 4^{-in}.$$

Now, an easy consequence of (D) is that for all $y \in M, r > 0$, and $\theta \ge 1$

(3.3)
$$V(y,\theta r) \leqslant C\theta^{\nu} V(y,r),$$

for some constants C and $\nu > 0$. Therefore, since $C_i \subset 2^{i+1}B$,

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}(C_{i})} \leq \mu(2^{i+1}B)^{1/2} \left(\mathcal{M}(|f|^{2})(x)\right)^{1/2} \leq \sqrt{C}2^{(i+1)\nu/2} \mu(B)^{1/2} \left(\mathcal{M}(|f|^{2})(x)\right)^{1/2}.$$

Choosing $2n > \nu/2$, we have

$$\left\| \left\| \nabla \Delta^{-1/2} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n f \right\| \right\|_{L^2(B)} \leqslant C' \left(\sum_{i \ge 1} 2^{i(\nu/2 - 2n)} \right) \mu(B)^{1/2} \left(\mathcal{M}(|f|^2)(x) \right)^{1/2}$$

which proves Lemma 3.1. \Box

We now show that (2.2) holds. We begin with a lemma.

LEMMA 3.2. – Assume (D), (P) and (G_{p_0}) . Then the following estimates hold: for every $p \in (2, p_0)$, for every ball B with radius r and every L^2 function f supported in $C_i = 2^{i+1}B \setminus 2^iB$, $i \ge 2$, or $C_1 = 4B$, and every $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, where n is chosen as above, one has

(3.4)
$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)}\int_{B}|\nabla e^{-kr^{2}\Delta}f|^{p}\,d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leqslant \frac{Ce^{-\alpha 4^{i}}}{r}\left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)}\int_{C_{i}}|f|^{2}\,d\mu\right)^{1/2}$$

for some constants C and α depending only on (D), (P), p and p_0 .

Proof. – By interpolating (G_{p_0}) with the L^2 Gaffney estimates, we obtain L^p Gaffney estimates for any $p \in (2, p_0)$: for every t > 0, for every closed sets E and F and every function f supported in E, one has

(3.5)
$$\left\|\sqrt{t}|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f|\right\|_{L^{p}(F)} \leq Ce^{-\alpha d(E,F)^{2}/t}\|f\|_{L^{p}(E)},$$

with C > 0 and $\alpha > 0$ depending on p, p_0 , and the constant C_{p_0} in (G_{p_0}) . Now let B be a ball with radius r and let f be supported in C_i .

In the following proof, many constants will implicitely depend on n, which itself only depends on (D).

 4^e série – tome $37 - 2004 - N^\circ 6$

Let us begin with the case i = 1. The above estimate (or, directly, (G_p)) yields

(3.6)
$$\left(\int_{B} |\nabla e^{-kr^{2}\Delta}f|^{p} d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leq \frac{C}{r} \left(\int_{M} |e^{-(k/2)r^{2}\Delta}f|^{p} d\mu\right)^{1/p}.$$

Let $t = (k/2)r^2$. Since (UE) follows from (D) and (P), one has the upper estimate

$$p_t(x,y) \leqslant \frac{C}{V(y,\sqrt{t})} \exp\left(-c\frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}\right),$$

for all $x, y \in M$. Because of the doubling property,

$$V(y,\sqrt{t}) \simeq V(x_B,\sqrt{t}) \simeq \mu(B)$$

where x_B is the center of B and $y \in 4B$. It follows that

(3.7)
$$\left| e^{-(k/2)r^2\Delta} f(x) \right| \leq \left(\frac{C}{\mu(B)} \int_{4B} |f|^2 \, d\mu \right)^{1/2},$$

for all $x \in M$. On the other hand, by Gaffney (or L^2 contractivity of the heat semigroup),

(3.8)
$$\int_{M} |e^{-(k/2)r^{2}\Delta}f|^{2} d\mu \leqslant C \int_{4B} |f|^{2} d\mu.$$

Thus, by Hölder,

$$\left(\int_{M} |e^{-(k/2)r^{2}\Delta}f|^{p} d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leqslant C\mu(B)^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{4B} |f|^{2} d\mu\right)^{1/2},$$

which, together with (3.6), yields (3.4) in this case.

Next assume that $i \ge 2$. Denote by $\chi_{C\ell}$ the characteristic function of C_{ℓ} and write

$$\nabla e^{-kr^2\Delta} f = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} h_\ell, \quad h_\ell = \nabla e^{-(k/2)r^2\Delta} (\chi_{C\ell}) e^{-(k/2)r^2\Delta} f.$$

From (3.5) we have

$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int\limits_{B} |h_{\ell}|^{p} \, d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leqslant \left(\frac{\mu(2^{\ell+1}B)}{\mu(B)}\right)^{1/p} \frac{Ce^{-\alpha 4^{\ell}}}{r} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{\ell+1}B)} \int\limits_{C_{\ell}} |e^{-(k/2)r^{2}\Delta}f|^{p} \, d\mu\right)^{1/p}$$

and, using (3.3),

(3.9)
$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} |h_{\ell}|^{p} d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leq C' 2^{(\ell+1)\nu/p} \frac{e^{-\alpha 4^{\ell}}}{r} \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{\ell+1}B)} \int_{C_{\ell}} |e^{-(k/2)r^{2}\Delta} f|^{p} d\mu\right)^{1/p}.$$

ANNALES SCIENTIFIQUES DE L'ÉCOLE NORMALE SUPÉRIEURE

.

From the L^2 Gaffney estimates for the semigroup, one has

$$\int_{C_{\ell}} |e^{-(k/2)r^2 \Delta} f|^2 d\mu \leqslant K_{i\ell} \int_{C_i} |f|^2 d\mu$$

with

$$K_{i\ell} \leqslant \begin{cases} Ce^{-c4^{i}} & \text{if } \ell \leqslant i-2, \\ C & \text{if } i-1 \leqslant \ell \leqslant i+1, \\ Ce^{-c4^{\ell}} & \text{if } \ell \geqslant i+2. \end{cases}$$

Since, by (3.3), $K_{i\ell} \frac{\mu(2^{i+1}B)}{\mu(2^{\ell+1}B)} \leq K_{i\ell} \sup(1, C2^{(i-\ell)\nu})$, and if we still denote by $K_{i\ell}$ a sequence of the same form with different constants, we may also write

(3.10)
$$\frac{1}{\mu(2^{\ell+1}B)} \int_{C_{\ell}} |e^{-(k/2)r^2 \Delta} f|^2 d\mu \leqslant K_{i\ell} \frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)} \int_{C_i} |f|^2 d\mu.$$

Next, it easily follows from (UE) and (D) that for all $x \in C_{\ell}$,

$$|e^{-(k/2)r^{2}\Delta}f(x)| \leq C \int_{C_{i}} V(y,r)^{-1} \exp\left(-c\frac{d^{2}(x,y)}{r^{2}}\right) |f(y)| d\mu(y)$$
$$\leq K_{i\ell} \int_{C_{i}} V(y,r)^{-1} |f(y)| d\mu(y).$$

If $y\in C_i,\,2^{i+1}B\subset B(y,2^{i+2}r),$ so that

$$\frac{1}{V(y,r)} \leqslant \frac{C2^{(i+2)\nu}}{V(y,2^{i+2}r)} \leqslant \frac{C2^{(i+2)\nu}}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)}$$

and it follows that

(3.11)
$$\left| e^{-(k/2)r^2 \Delta} f(x) \right| \leq K_{i\ell} 2^{(i+2)\nu} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)} \int\limits_{C_i} |f|^2 d\mu \right)^{1/2}.$$

By applying Hölder and using (3.10) and (3.11), one obtains

$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{\ell+1}B)}\int\limits_{C_{\ell}}|e^{-(k/2)r^{2}\Delta}f|^{p}\,d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leqslant K_{i\ell}2^{(i+2)\nu(1-\frac{2}{p})}\left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)}\int\limits_{C_{i}}|f|^{2}\,d\mu\right)^{1/2}.$$

Together with (3.9) and summing in ℓ , this yields

$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} |\nabla e^{-kr^{2}\Delta} f|^{p} d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leq C \sum_{\ell \ge 1} 2^{(\ell+1)\nu/p} \frac{e^{-c4^{\ell}}}{r} K_{i\ell} 2^{(i+2)\nu(1-\frac{2}{p})} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)} \int_{C_{i}} |f|^{2} d\mu\right)^{1/2}$$

 4^e série – tome $37 - 2004 - N^\circ 6$

$$\leq C \frac{e^{-c'4^{i}}}{r} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)} \int_{C_{i}} |f|^{2} d\mu \right)^{1/2}.$$

This ends the proof of Lemma 3.2. \Box

Equipped with this lemma, we can prove (2.2) for any $p \in (2, p_0)$. Fix such a p. By expanding $I - (I - e^{-r^2\Delta})^n$ it suffices to show

(3.12)
$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)}\int_{B}|\nabla e^{-kr^{2}\Delta}f|^{p}\,d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leq C\left(\mathcal{M}\left(|\nabla f|^{2}\right)\right)^{1/2}(y)$$

for f with $f, \nabla f$ locally square integrable, B any ball with $r = r(B), y \in B$ and k = 1, 2, ..., n. Recall that n is chosen larger than $\nu/4$ where ν is given in (3.3).

Recall that our assumptions ensure that M satisfies (1.5). In other words,

$$e^{-t\Delta} 1 \equiv 1, \quad \forall t > 0.$$

We may therefore write

$$\nabla e^{-kr^2\Delta}f = \nabla e^{-kr^2\Delta}(f - f_{4B}).$$

Write $f - f_{4B} = f_1 + f_2 + f_3 + \cdots$ where $f_i = (f - f_{4B})\chi_{C_i}$. For i = 1, we use the lemma and (P) to obtain

$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)}\int_{B} |\nabla e^{-kr^{2}\Delta}f_{1}|^{p} d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leq C\left(\frac{1}{\mu(4B)}\int_{4B} |\nabla f|^{2} d\mu\right)^{1/2} \leq C\left(\mathcal{M}\left(|\nabla f|^{2}\right)\right)^{1/2}(y).$$

For $i \ge 2$, we have similarly

$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} |\nabla e^{-kr^{2}\Delta} f_{i}|^{p} d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leqslant \frac{Ce^{-\alpha 4^{i}}}{r} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)} \int_{C_{i}} |f_{i}|^{2} d\mu\right)^{1/2}.$$

But

$$\int_{C_i} |f_i|^2 d\mu \leqslant \int_{2^{i+1}B} |f - f_{4B}|^2 d\mu,$$
$$|f - f_{4B}| \leqslant |f - f_{2^{i+1}B}| + \sum_{\ell=2}^i |f_{2^{\ell}B} - f_{2^{\ell+1}B}|$$

and observe that

$$|f_{2^{\ell}B} - f_{2^{\ell+1}B}|^2 \leq \frac{1}{\mu(2^{\ell+1}B)} \int_{2^{\ell+1}B} |f - f_{2^{\ell+1}B}|^2 d\mu \leq (2^{\ell}r)^2 \mathcal{M}(|\nabla f|^2)(y).$$

Hence, by the Minkowski inequality, we easily obtain

(3.13)
$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)}\int_{C_i} |f_i|^2 d\mu\right)^{1/2} \leqslant C(2^i r) \left(\mathcal{M}(|\nabla f|^2)\right)^{1/2}(y).$$

ANNALES SCIENTIFIQUES DE L'ÉCOLE NORMALE SUPÉRIEURE

It remains to sum for $i \ge 2$

$$\sum_{i\geq 2} \frac{Ce^{-\alpha 4^{i}}}{r} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)} \int_{C_{i}} |f_{i}|^{2} d\mu\right)^{1/2} \leqslant \sum_{i\geq 2} \frac{Ce^{-\alpha 4^{i}}}{r} (2^{i}r) \left(\mathcal{M}\left(|\nabla f|^{2}\right)\right)^{1/2}(y)$$
$$\leqslant C \sum_{i\geq 2} e^{-\alpha 4^{i}} 2^{i} \left(\mathcal{M}\left(|\nabla f|^{2}\right)\right)^{1/2}(y).$$

This yields (3.12), and the proof of Theorem 1.2 is finished.

Remark. -

A slight modification of the proof allows the following improvement of (3.12): for some constants c, C > 0

(3.14)
$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} |\nabla e^{-kr^{2}\Delta} f|^{p} d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leq C \inf_{x \in B} \left(e^{-cr^{2}\Delta} \left(|\nabla f|^{2}\right)\right)^{1/2} (x)$$

for f with $f, \nabla f$ locally square integrable, B any ball with r = r(B) and k = 1, 2, ..., n, where n is chosen as above. See Lemma 3.3 in Section 3.2 for the case $p = \infty$ of this inequality.

The techniques of proof of Theorem 2.1 extend easily to the vector-valued setting. It can be checked that it applies as well to obtain the square function estimate (seen as L^p boundedness of a vector-valued operator)

(3.15)
$$\left\| \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} |\nabla e^{-t\Delta} f|^{2} dt \right)^{1/2} \right\|_{p} \leq C \|f\|_{p}$$

from (D), (P), and (G_{p_0}) , for 2 . Compare with [20], Section 3, where it is observed that a related inequality (with the Poisson semigroup instead of the heat semigroup) holds under (1.12) only. In particular, <math>(D) and (P) are not used there. This explains further our discussion in Section 1.4 where we question the relevance of (D) and (P) for the Riesz transform boundedness.

3.2. A simpler situation

In this section, we show a slightly weaker version of Theorem 1.4 by replacing (G) with the stronger inequality (1.8), that is

$$\left|\nabla_x p_t(x,y)\right| \leqslant \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}V(y,\sqrt{t})} \exp\left(-c\frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}\right), \quad \forall x,y \in M, \ t > 0,$$

as this is a simpler application of Theorem 2.1 and this hypothesis is related to the domination condition (1.12), therefore to the conjecture in [20] explained in Section 1.4.

We set again $Tf = |\nabla \Delta^{-1/2} f|$ but choose here $A_r = e^{-r^2 \Delta}$, and apply Theorem 2.1 in the case $p_0 = \infty$.

We begin with the verification of (2.1). Let B be a ball of radius r. Let $f \in L^2(M)$. Write $f = f_1 + f_2$ where $f_1 = f$ on 2B and 0 elsewhere. First, the L^2 boundedness of $T(I - A_r)$ gives us

$$\int_{B} \left| T(I - A_r) f_1 \right|^2 d\mu \leqslant \int_{M} |f_1|^2 d\mu \leqslant \mu(2B) \mathcal{M}(|f|^2)(z)$$

 $4^e~\text{Série} - \text{tome}~37 - 2004 - \text{N}^\circ~6$

whenever $z \in B$. To conclude the proof of (2.1), it remains to obtain the same bound for f_2 . One has

$$T(I - A_r)f_2(x) = \left| \nabla \Delta^{-1/2} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta}) f_2(x) \right|$$
$$= \left| \int_M \tilde{k}_r(x, y) f_2(y) \, d\mu(y) \right|$$
$$\leqslant \int_M \left| \tilde{k}_r(x, y) \right| \left| f_2(y) \right| d\mu(y),$$

where

$$\tilde{k}_r(x,y) = \int_0^\infty g_r(s) \nabla_x \, p_s(x,y) \, ds$$

and

$$g_r(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} - \frac{\chi_{\{t>r^2\}}}{\sqrt{t-r^2}}.$$

Using (1.8) and following the case n = 1 in the proof of Lemma 3.1, one obtains that if $d(x, y) \ge r$ then

$$\left|\tilde{k}_r(x,y)\right| \leqslant \frac{C}{V(x,r)} \exp\left(-c\frac{d^2(x,y)}{r^2}\right).$$

This estimate and the support property of f_2 ensure

$$\int_{M} \left| \tilde{k}_{r}(x,y) \right| \left| f_{2}(y) \right| d\mu(y) \leq C \mathcal{M} \left(\left| f_{2} \right| \right)(z) \leq C \mathcal{M} \left(\left| f \right| \right)(z)$$

(see for instance [36, Proposition 2.4]), therefore the pointwise bound

$$\left|T(I-A_r)f_2(x)\right| \leq C\mathcal{M}(|f|)(z)$$

whenever x and z belong to B, hence the bound in L^2 average.

The next step is the verification of (2.2), which in this case becomes the maximal estimate

(3.16)
$$\sup_{y\in B} \left|\nabla e^{-r^2(B)\Delta} f(y)\right|^2 \leqslant C' \inf_{x\in B} \mathcal{M}\left(|\nabla f|^2\right)(x),$$

for all balls B and functions f with $f, \nabla f$ square integrable. But, under (D) and (DUE), this follows from (1.8).

Indeed, assume (1.8). Recall from the discussion in Sections 1.2 and 1.4 that in such a case, the full (LY) estimates hold and that (1.8) is equivalent to (1.10), that is

$$\left|\nabla_x p_t(x,y)\right| \leqslant \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}} p_{C't}(x,y)$$

for some constants C, C' > 0. Also, by Cauchy–Schwarz, (P) implies

(3.17)
$$\int_{B} |f - f_B| \, d\mu \leqslant Cr(B) \sqrt{\mu(B)} \left(\int_{B} |\nabla f|^2 \, d\mu \right)^{1/2}$$

for any ball B in (M, d) with radius r(B) and any f with $f, \nabla f$ square integrable on B (in fact (P) and (3.17) are equivalent, see [49]).

Fix B a ball in $M, x, y \in B$, and set $t = r^2(B)$. Using (1.5) again, write

(3.18)
$$\left|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f(y)\right| = \left|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}\left(f - f(x)\right)(y)\right| \leqslant \int_{M} \left|\nabla p_t(y,z)\right| \left|f(z) - f(x)\right| d\mu(z)$$

Then recall that (3.17) admits a reformulation in terms of a pointwise estimate (see [48], [50], Theorem 3.2), in particular it implies:

$$(3.19) \qquad \qquad \left|f(x) - f(z)\right| \leq Cd(x,z) \big(h(x) + h(z)\big),$$

with

$$h(x) = \left(\mathcal{M}\left(|\nabla f|^2\right)(x)\right)^{1/2}$$

for all f with $f, \nabla f$ locally square integrable and $x, z \in M$.

Then, plugging (3.19) and (1.8) into (3.18),

$$\left|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f(y)\right| \leqslant \frac{C}{V(x,\sqrt{t})} \int_{M} \frac{d(x,z)}{\sqrt{t}} \exp\left(-\frac{d^{2}(y,z)}{Ct}\right) \left(h(x) + h(z)\right) d\mu(z),$$

and since $x, y \in B$, $\frac{d(x,z)}{\sqrt{t}}$ is comparable up to an additive constant with $\frac{d(y,z)}{\sqrt{t}}$, therefore

$$\begin{split} \left| \nabla e^{-t\Delta} f(y) \right| &\leqslant \frac{C}{V(x,\sqrt{t})} \int_{M} \exp\left(-\frac{d^2(y,z)}{C't} \right) \left(h(x) + h(z) \right) d\mu(z) \\ &\leqslant Ch(x) + \frac{C}{V(x,\sqrt{t})} \int_{M} \exp\left(-\frac{d^2(y,z)}{C't} \right) h(z) \, d\mu(z) \\ &\leqslant Ch(x) + C(\mathcal{M}h)(x), \end{split}$$

again by [36, Proposition 2.4]. Now, a result of Coifman and Rochberg [14], which is extendable to spaces of homogeneous type, states that for any g for which $\mathcal{M}g < \infty$ a.e. and for any positive $\gamma < 1$, the weight $w \equiv (\mathcal{M}g)^{\gamma}$ belongs to the Muckenhoupt class A_1 , with A_1 constant depending on γ (but not on g). Thus, $\mathcal{M}w \leq C_{\gamma}w$ a.e., so that, in particular,

$$\mathcal{M}\big[(\mathcal{M}g)^{1/2}\big] \leqslant C_{1/2}(\mathcal{M}g)^{1/2},$$

almost everywhere.

Applying this with $g = |\nabla f|^2$ in the right-hand side of the above inequality, one obtains (3.16). For the sake of completeness, we are now going to give a lemma which clarifies the relationship between the pointwise gradient bound (1.8), an integral version of it, the domination condition (1.12), and the maximal estimate (3.16). This lemma also offers a less direct, but more elementary approach to the implication from (1.8) to (3.16).

LEMMA 3.3. – In presence of (FK), the following three properties are equivalent: (i) The pointwise heat kernel gradient bound (1.8).

 $4^e~\text{série} - \text{tome}~37 - 2004 - \text{n}^\circ~6$

(ii) The weighted L^2 heat kernel gradient bound

(3.20)
$$\int_{M} \left| \nabla_{x} p_{t}(x, y) \right|^{2} e^{\alpha \frac{d^{2}(x, y)}{t}} d\mu(y) \leqslant \frac{C}{t V(x, \sqrt{t})}$$

for $\alpha > 0$ small enough, all t > 0, $x \in M$. (iii) The domination condition (1.12)

$$|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f|^2 \leqslant C e^{-C't\Delta} (|\nabla f|^2),$$

for some C, C' > 0 and f with $f, \nabla f$ square integrable and all t > 0. Any of these conditions implies the maximal estimate (3.16).

Proof. – It is easy to see by integrating (1.8) and using the doubling property that (i) implies (ii). The converse follows from an argument somewhat similar to [20, p. 14]. Write

$$\nabla_x p_{2t}(x,y) = \int_M \nabla_x p_t(x,z) p_t(z,y) \, d\mu(z).$$

Using (ii) and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality,

$$\left|\nabla_x p_{2t}(x,y)\right|^2 \leqslant \frac{C}{t V(x,\sqrt{t})} \int_M \left|p_t(z,y)\right|^2 e^{-\alpha \frac{d^2(x,z)}{t}} d\mu(z)$$

for all $\alpha > 0$ small enough. According to (DUE),

$$\left|p_t(z,y)\right|^2 \leqslant \frac{C}{V^2(y,\sqrt{t})} e^{-c\frac{d^2(z,y)}{t}}$$

for some c > 0. For β small enough we have

$$e^{-\alpha \frac{d^2(x,z)}{t}} e^{-c \frac{d^2(z,y)}{t}} \leqslant e^{-\beta \frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}} e^{-c \frac{d^2(z,y)}{2t}},$$

thus

$$\left|\nabla_{x} p_{2t}(x,y)\right|^{2} \leqslant \frac{C}{tV(x,\sqrt{t})V^{2}(y,\sqrt{t})} e^{-\beta \frac{d^{2}(x,y)}{t}} \int_{M} e^{-c \frac{d^{2}(z,y)}{2t}} d\mu(z).$$

Using (D), it is easy to check that the quantity

$$\frac{1}{V(y,\sqrt{t})} \int_{M} e^{-c\frac{d^2(z,y)}{2t}} d\mu(z)$$

is uniformly bounded, and (i) follows readily.

Assume next that (i) holds and let us prove (iii). Recall that we may use freely (LY) and (3.17).

Fix $x \in M$ and $B \equiv B(x, \sqrt{t})$. Set $C_1 = 4B$ and $C_j = 2^{j+1}B \setminus 2^j B$ for $j \ge 2$. Using again (1.5), write

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \nabla e^{-t\Delta} f(x) \right| &= \left| \nabla e^{-t\Delta} (f - f_{4B})(x) \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{M} \nabla_{x} p_{t}(x, y) \left(f(y) - f_{4B} \right) d\mu(y) \right| \\ &\leqslant \sum_{j \geqslant 1} \int_{C_{j}} \left| \nabla_{x} p_{t}(x, y) \right| \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y). \end{aligned}$$

It follows from the lower bound in (LY) that, for all $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist $c_{\epsilon}, C_{\varepsilon} > 0$ independent of $x \in M$ and t > 0 such that

(3.21)
$$\frac{c_{\varepsilon}}{V(x,\sqrt{t})}\exp(-\varepsilon 4^{j}) \leqslant p_{C_{\varepsilon}t}(x,y)$$

for all $y \in 2^j B$, t > 0.

Let us treat the first term in the above sum, that is when j = 1. According to (1.8),

$$\int_{4B} \left| \nabla_x p_t(x,y) \right| \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y) \leqslant \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}V(x,\sqrt{t})} \int_{4B} \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y).$$

By (3.17),

$$\int_{4B} \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y) \leqslant C\sqrt{t} \sqrt{V(x,\sqrt{t})} \left(\int_{4B} \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^2 d\mu(y) \right)^{1/2},$$

hence

$$\int_{4B} \left| \nabla_x p_t(x,y) \right| \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y) \leqslant C \left(\frac{1}{V(x,\sqrt{t})} \int_{4B} \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^2 d\mu(y) \right)^{1/2},$$

and by (3.21),

$$\int_{4B} \left| \nabla_x p_t(x,y) \right| \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y) \leqslant C_{\varepsilon}' \left(\int_M p_{C_{\varepsilon}t}(x,y) \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^2 d\mu(y) \right)^{1/2}.$$

Now for the other terms in the sum. By (1.8) again,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{C_j} \left| \nabla_x p_t(x,y) \right| \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y) \\ &\leqslant \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}V(x,\sqrt{t})} \int_{C_j} \exp\left(-\frac{d^2(x,y)}{Ct}\right) \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y) \\ &\leqslant \frac{C \exp(-c4^j)}{\sqrt{t}V(x,\sqrt{t})} \int_{C_j} \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y). \end{split}$$

Then

 $4^e~\text{série} - \text{tome}~37 - 2004 - \text{n}^\circ~6$

$$\begin{split} \int_{C_j} \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y) &\leq \int_{2^{j+1}B} \left(\left| f(y) - f_{2^j B} \right| + \sum_{\ell=2}^j \left| f_{2^\ell B} - f_{2^{\ell+1}B} \right| \right) d\mu(y) \\ &= \int_{2^{j+1}B} \left| f(y) - f_{2^j B} \right| d\mu(y) + \sum_{\ell=2}^j V(x, 2^j \sqrt{t}) |f_{2^\ell B} - f_{2^{\ell+1}B}|. \end{split}$$

Again by (3.17),

$$\int_{2^{j+1}B} \left| f(y) - f_{2^{j}B} \right| d\mu(y) \leqslant C 2^{j} \sqrt{t} \sqrt{V(x, 2^{j} \sqrt{t})} \left(\int_{2^{j+1}B} \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^{2} d\mu(y) \right)^{1/2},$$

and by (3.21)

$$\int_{2^{j+1}B} \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^2 d\mu(y) \leqslant C_{\varepsilon} V(x,\sqrt{t}) \exp(\varepsilon 4^j) \int_M p_{C_{\varepsilon}t}(x,y) \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^2 d\mu(y),$$

thus

$$\int_{2^{j+1}B} \left| f(y) - f_{2^{j}B} \right| d\mu(y)$$

$$\leqslant C_{\varepsilon} 2^{j} \sqrt{t} V(x, 2^{j} \sqrt{t}) \exp(\varepsilon 4^{j}) \left(\int_{M} p_{C_{\varepsilon}t}(x, y) \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^{2} d\mu(y) \right)^{1/2}.$$

Similarly,

$$\begin{split} |f_{2^{\ell}B} - f_{2^{\ell+1}B}| &\leqslant \frac{1}{V(x, 2^{\ell}\sqrt{t})} \int_{2^{\ell+1}B} \left| f(y) - f_{2^{\ell+1}B} \right| d\mu(y) \\ &\leqslant C 2^{\ell} \sqrt{t} \bigg(\frac{1}{V(x, 2^{\ell}\sqrt{t})} \int_{2^{\ell+1}B} \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^2 d\mu(y) \bigg)^{1/2}, \end{split}$$

thus by (3.21) again,

$$|f_{2^{\ell}B} - f_{2^{\ell+1}B}| \leqslant C_{\varepsilon} 2^{\ell} \sqrt{t} \exp(\varepsilon 4^{\ell+1}) \left(\int_{M} p_{C_{\varepsilon}t}(x,y) \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^2 d\mu(y) \right)^{1/2}.$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} &\int_{C_j} \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y) \\ &\leqslant C_{\varepsilon} \sqrt{t} V(x, 2^j \sqrt{t}) \left(2^j + \sum_{\ell=2}^j 2^\ell \right) \exp(\varepsilon 4^j) \left(\int_M p_{C_{\varepsilon} t}(x, y) \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^2 d\mu(y) \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant C'_{\varepsilon} 2^j \sqrt{t} V(x, 2^j \sqrt{t}) \exp(\varepsilon 4^j) \left(\int_M p_{C_{\varepsilon} t}(x, y) \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^2 d\mu(y) \right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

Gathering the above estimates and using the doubling property, one obtains

$$\begin{split} &\int_{C_j} \left| \nabla_x p_t(x,y) \right| \left| f(y) - f_{4B} \right| d\mu(y) \\ &\leqslant C 2^j \exp\left(-(c-\varepsilon) 4^j \right) \frac{V(x,2^j \sqrt{t})}{V(x,\sqrt{t})} \left(\int_M p_{C_\varepsilon t}(x,y) \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^2 d\mu(y) \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant C' 2^j \exp\left(-(c-\varepsilon) 4^j \right) 2^{\nu j} \left(\int_M p_{C_\varepsilon t}(x,y) \left| \nabla f(y) \right|^2 d\mu(y) \right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

Choosing $\varepsilon < c$, since then $\sum_{j \geqslant 2} 2^j \exp(-(c-\varepsilon)4^j) 2^{\nu j} < \infty$,

$$\left|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f(x)\right| \leqslant C\left(\int_{M} p_{C_{\varepsilon}t}(x,y) \left|\nabla f(y)\right|^{2} d\mu(y)\right)^{1/2},$$

and (iii) is proved.

The converse, that is the implication from (iii) to (i), again follows from a variant of the argument in [20, p. 14]. Using again

$$\nabla_x p_{2t}(x,y) = \int_M \nabla_x p_t(x,z) p_t(z,y) \, d\mu(z)$$

and (iii), we have

$$\left|\nabla_{x} p_{2t}(x,y)\right|^{2} \leq C \int_{M} p_{C't}(x,z) \left|\nabla_{z} p_{t}(z,y)\right|^{2} d\mu(z).$$

Invoke a weighted L^2 estimate for $\nabla_x p_t(., y)$ proved in [45] (see also [18, Lemma 2.4]) and valid under (D) and (DUE): for some $\gamma > 0$ and all $y \in M, t > 0$,

(3.22)
$$\int_{M} \left| \nabla_{x} p_{t}(x, y) \right|^{2} e^{\gamma \frac{d^{2}(x, y)}{t}} d\mu(x) \leqslant \frac{C}{t V(y, \sqrt{t})}$$

(note that contrary to (ii), the integration here is with respect to x, see the remark below). This yields

$$\left|\nabla_x p_{2t}(x,y)\right|^2 \leqslant \frac{C}{t \, V(y,\sqrt{t})} \left(\sup_{z \in M} p_{C't}(x,z) e^{-\gamma \frac{d^2(z,y)}{t}}\right).$$

Using (UE), the above supremum can easily be controlled by

$$\frac{Ce^{-\beta \frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}}}{V(x,\sqrt{t})}$$

for $\beta > 0$ small enough, and (i) follows. \Box

 $4^e~\text{série} - \text{tome}~37 - 2004 - \text{n}^\circ~6$

c

It remains to deduce the maximal estimate (3.16) from one of the other equivalent conditions. Assume (iii), that is

$$\left|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f(y)\right|^2 \leqslant C e^{-C't\Delta} \left(|\nabla f|^2\right)(y),$$

then, since by (LY),

$$e^{-ct\Delta} \big(|\nabla f|^2 \big)(y) \leqslant C e^{-C't\Delta} \big(|\nabla f|^2 \big)(x)$$

as soon as $d(x, y) \leq \sqrt{t}$, one obtains

$$\left|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f(y)\right|^2 \leq C e^{-C't\Delta} \left(|\nabla f|^2\right)(x).$$

On the other hand, $e^{-C't\Delta}(|\nabla f|^2)(x) \leq C\mathcal{M}(|\nabla f|^2)(x)$ by (UE) and [36, Proposition 2.4]. This readily yields (3.16).

Remarks. –

- Although not necessary for the main argument developed in this section, we have recorded the equivalence between (i) and (ii) to point out a difference with the case 1(see [18]). In that case, the crucial ingredient in the proof was the weighted estimateof the gradient (3.22), where integration and differentiation are taken with respect to thesame variable. As we already said, (3.22) follows from the pointwise estimate of the heatkernel only. In contrast, the estimate (ii), with integration and differentiation with respectto different variables, requires in addition the pointwise estimate (i) of the gradient. All thisalso explains at a technical level why more assumptions are needed in Theorem 1.4 than inTheorem 1.1, and also why (1.8) holds on manifolds satisfying (<math>FK) and

$$\left|\nabla_{x} p_{t}(x, y)\right| \leq C \left|\nabla_{y} p_{t}(x, y)\right|$$

for all $t > 0, x, y \in M$ ([45, Theorem 1.3]).

- A sufficient condition for (iii) in terms of Ricci curvature follows from [64, Theorem 3.2, (3.7)]. According to the above, (R_p) holds for all $p \in (1, \infty)$ on manifolds satisfying this condition plus (FK).
- The L^2 version of Poincaré inequalities (P), which follows from the assumptions of the lemma and (i), is used in the above proof. If instead one has the stronger L^1 version

$$\int_{B} |f - f_B| \, d\mu \leqslant Cr \int_{B} |\nabla f| \, d\mu,$$

for any ball B in (M,d) with radius r and any f with $f, \nabla f$ locally integrable on B (which is the case for instance on Lie groups of polynomial volume growth, manifolds with non-negative Ricci curvature and co-compact coverings with polynomial growth deck transformation group), together (D), (DUE), then one can show in the same way the equivalence of (1.8) with the estimates

$$\sup_{y \in B} \left| \nabla e^{-r^2(B)\Delta} f(y) \right| \leqslant C' \inf_{x \in B} \mathcal{M}(|\nabla f|)(x),$$

and

$$|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f| \leqslant C e^{-t\Delta} (|\nabla f|),$$

which are stronger than their L^2 counterparts.

3.3. Proofs of some other results

In this section, M satisfies (D) and (DUE).

Proof of Proposition 1.10. – First assume (G_p) . Write

$$\left\| \left\| \nabla_x \, p_{2t}(.,y) \right\| \right\|_p = \left\| \left\| \nabla e^{-t\Delta} \left(p_t(.,y) \right) \right\| \right\|_p \leq \frac{C_p}{\sqrt{t}} \left\| p_t(.,y) \right\|_p.$$

The estimate (UE) easily yields

$$||p_t(.,y)||_p \leq \frac{C}{[V(y,\sqrt{t})]^{1-\frac{1}{p}}}$$

This implies

$$\left\| \left\| \nabla_x p_{2t}(.,y) \right\| \right\|_p \leq \frac{C_p}{\sqrt{t} [V(y,\sqrt{t})]^{1-\frac{1}{p}}}.$$

Conversely, assume for a $p \in (2, p_0)$ for all $y \in M$ and t > 0.

$$\left\| \left\| \nabla_x p_t(.,y) \right\| \right\|_p \leq \frac{C_p}{\sqrt{t} [V(y,\sqrt{t})]^{1-\frac{1}{p}}}.$$

We shall prove (G_q) for any 2 < q < p. Using (3.22) and interpolating with the above unweighted L^p estimate, we have

$$\int_{M} \left| \nabla_{x} p_{t}(x,y) \right|^{q} e^{\gamma' \frac{d^{2}(x,y)}{t}} d\mu(x) \leqslant \frac{C}{t^{q/2} [V(y,\sqrt{t})]^{q-1}}.$$

Now let $f \in L^q(M,\mu)$. Estimate $|\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f(x)|$ by

$$\int_{M} \left| \nabla_{x} p_{t}(x,y) \right| e^{\frac{\gamma' d^{2}(x,y)}{qt}} \left[V(y,\sqrt{t}) \right]^{1/q'} \left| f(y) \right| \frac{e^{-\frac{\gamma' d^{2}(x,y)}{qt}}}{\left[V(y,\sqrt{t}) \right]^{1/q'}} d\mu(y)$$

which, by Hölder inequality, is controlled by

$$\left(\int_{M} \left|\nabla_{x} p_{t}(x,y)\right|^{q} e^{\gamma' \frac{d^{2}(x,y)}{t}} \left[V(y,\sqrt{t})\right]^{q/q'} \left|f(y)\right|^{q} d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q} \left(\int_{M} \frac{e^{-\frac{q'\gamma' d^{2}(x,y)}{qt}}}{V(y,\sqrt{t})} d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q'}.$$

Now, it follows easily from the doubling property that the second integral is bounded uniformly in t, x. Integrating with respect to x, by Fubini's theorem and the weighted L^q -estimate, we obtain

$$\int_{M} \left| \nabla e^{-t\Delta} f(x) \right|^{q} d\mu(x) \leqslant \frac{C}{t^{q/2}} \int_{M} \left| f(y) \right|^{q} d\mu(y)$$

as desired. \Box

 4^e série – tome 37-2004 – $n^\circ~6$

Proof of Theorem 1.4. – We have already observed that the hypotheses in the statement imply (D) and (P). It remains to obtain (G_p) for all $p \in (1, \infty)$. In view of the previous result, it is enough to prove (1.6). But this follows by interpolating (G) with the L^2 bound

$$\left\| \left\| \nabla_x p_t(.,y) \right\| \right\|_2 \leq \frac{C_2}{\sqrt{t} [V(y,\sqrt{t})]^{1/2}}.$$

The latter follows from (DUE):

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left\| \nabla_{x} p_{t}(.,y) \right\| \right\|_{2}^{2} &= \left(\Delta p_{t}(.,y), p_{t}(.,y) \right) \\ &\leq \left\| \Delta p_{t}(.,y) \right\|_{2} \left\| p_{t}(.,y) \right\|_{2} \end{aligned}$$

Now

$$\left\|\Delta p_t(.,y)\right\|_2 = \left\|\Delta e^{-(t/2)\Delta} p_{t/2}(.,y)\right\|_2 \leqslant \frac{C}{t} \left\|p_{t/2}(.,y)\right\|_2$$

by analyticity of the heat semigroup on L^2 , and $\|p_{t/2}(.,y)\|_2^2 = p_t(y,y) \leq \frac{C}{V(y,\sqrt{t})}$ by (DUE). The claim is proved. \Box

4. Localization

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 1.5. Theorem 1.7 can then be deduced as in the global case and we leave details to the reader.

For a > 0, we have

$$\nabla (\Delta + a)^{-1/2} = c \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-at} \nabla e^{-t\Delta} \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}}.$$

Let v be a C^{∞} function on $[0, \infty)$ with $0 \le v \le 1$, which equals 1 on [0, 3/4] and vanishes on $t \ge 1$.

If $a > \alpha$, Minkowski's integral inequality implies that

$$\left\|\int_{0}^{\infty} (1-v(t))e^{-at}\nabla e^{-t\Delta}f\frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}}\right\|_{p} \leqslant C\int_{3/4}^{\infty} e^{(\alpha-a)t}\frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}}\|f\|_{p} \leqslant C'\|f\|_{p}.$$

It is enough to prove the L^p boundedness of the sublinear operator \widetilde{T} defined by

$$\widetilde{T}f = \left| \int_{0}^{\infty} v(t) \nabla e^{-t(\Delta+a)} f \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}} \right|.$$

Without loss of generality, we may and do replace in what follows $\Delta + a$ by Δ as the value of a plays no further role.

For this purpose, we begin with the localization technique of [36] as in [18].

Before we start, observe that, as a consequence of (E) and (P_{loc}) , $p_t(x,y)$ satisfies the estimates (LY) for small times.

Let $(x_j)_{j \in J}$ be a maximal 1-separated subset of M: the collection of balls $B^j = B(x_j, 1)$, $j \in J$, covers M, whereas the balls $B(x_j, 1/2)$ are pairwise disjoint. It follows from the local

doubling property that there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$ such that every $x \in M$ is contained in at most N balls $4B^j = B(x_j, 4)$.

Consider a C^{∞} partition of unity φ_j , $j \in J$, such that $\varphi_j \ge 0$ and is supported in B^j . Let χ_j be the characteristic function of the ball $4B^j$. For $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_0(M)$ and $x \in M$, write

$$\widetilde{T}f(x) \leqslant \sum_{j} \chi_{j}\widetilde{T}(f\varphi_{j})(x) + \sum_{j} (1-\chi_{j})\widetilde{T}(f\varphi_{j})(x) = \mathbf{I} + \mathbf{II}.$$

Let us first treat the term II. The first observation is that, from the finite overlap property of the balls B^{j} , we have

$$\sum_{j} \left| (1 - \chi_j)(x) \varphi_j(y) \right| \leq N \chi_{d(x,y) \geq 3}$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} \Pi &\leqslant \int_{0}^{1} \int_{M} \left| \nabla_{x} p_{t}(x,y) \right| \sum_{j} \left| (1-\chi_{j})(x) \varphi_{j}(y) \right| \left| f(y) \right| d\mu(y) \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}} \\ &\leqslant N \int_{0}^{1} \int_{d(x,y) \geqslant 3} \left| \nabla_{x} p_{t}(x,y) \right| \left| f(y) \right| d\mu(y) \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}}. \end{split}$$

From there, we follow the argument in Section 3.3 by inserting the Gaussian terms and using the Hölder inequality to estimate the integral on $d(x, y) \ge 3$. Since (LY) for small times applies, we have

$$\int_{d(x,y)\geqslant 3} \frac{e^{-\frac{p'\gamma d^2(x,y)}{pt}}}{V(y,\sqrt{t})} d\mu(y) \leqslant C e^{-\frac{c}{t}}$$

for some constants C, c > 0 independent of t and x. Therefore,

$$\mathbf{II} \leqslant C \int_{0}^{1} \left(\int_{M} \left| \sqrt{t} \nabla_{x} p_{t}(x, y) \right|^{p} e^{\gamma \frac{d^{2}(x, y)}{t}} \left[V(y, \sqrt{t}) \right]^{p/p'} \left| f(y) \right|^{p} d\mu(y) \right)^{1/p} \frac{e^{-\frac{c}{t}}}{t} dt$$

It follows from $(G_{p_0}^{\text{loc}})$ and the argument in Section 3.3 for small times (which is valid under the exponential growth assumption and the Gaussian upper bound for $p_t(x, y)$ for small times, see [18]) that for some $\gamma > 0$ and all $t \in (0, 1)$ and $y \in M$,

$$\int_{M} \left| \nabla_x p_t(x,y) \right|^p e^{\gamma' \frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}} d\mu(x) \leqslant \frac{C}{t^{p/2} [V(y,\sqrt{t})]^{p-1}}.$$

Since the measure $e^{-c/t}/t dt$ has finite mass, one can use Jensen's inequality with respect to t, Fubini's theorem and the weighted L^p estimate above to conclude that $\int_M |\Pi|^p d\mu(x)$ is bounded by $C ||f||_p^p$.

We now turn to I which is the main term. The uniform overlap of the balls $4B^{j}$ implies

$$\sum_{j} \|g\chi_{j}\|_{r}^{r} \leqslant C \|g\|_{r}^{r}$$

 4^e série – tome $37 - 2004 - N^\circ 6$

for all g and $1 \leq r \leq \infty$. Hence

$$\int_{M} \left| g(x) \right| \left| \sum_{j} \chi_{j} \widetilde{T}(f\varphi_{j})(x) \right| d\mu(x) \leqslant C \sum_{j} \|f\varphi_{j}\|_{p} \|g\chi_{j}\|_{p'} \leqslant C \|f\|_{p} \|g\|_{q}$$

provided we show that

$$\left\|\chi_{j}\left|\widetilde{T}(f\varphi_{j})\right|\right\|_{p} \leqslant C \|f\varphi_{j}\|_{p}$$

with a bound uniform in j. In other words, we want to show that \tilde{T} maps $L^p(B^j)$ into $L^p(4B^j)$. To this end we apply Theorem 2.4 with $E_1 = B^j$ and $E_2 = 4B^j$ since $4B^j$ has the doubling property by the following lemma, which is implicit in [58], and whose proof we postpone until the end of this section.

LEMMA 4.1. – The balls $4B^j$ equipped with the induced distance and measure satisfy the doubling property (D) and the doubling constant may be chosen independently of j. More precisely, there is a constant $C \ge 0$ such that for all $j \in J$,

(4.1)
$$\mu(B(x,2r) \cap 4B^j) \leqslant C\mu(B(x,r) \cap 4B^j), \quad \forall x \in 4B^j, \ r > 0,$$

and also

(4.2)
$$\mu(B(x,r)) \leqslant C\mu(B(x,r) \cap 4B^j), \quad \forall x \in 4B^j, \ 0 < r \leqslant 8.$$

Define the local maximal function on M by

$$\mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{loc}}f(x) = \sup_{B \ni x, r(B) \leqslant 32} \frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} |f| \, d\mu,$$

for $x \in M$ and f locally integrable on M. By local doubling, \mathcal{M}^{loc} is bounded on all $L^p(M)$, 1 . We have the following estimates for balls <math>B of M centered in $4B^j$ and with radii less than 8, $x \in B \cap 4B^j$ and functions f in $L^2(M)$ with support in B^j :

1) There is an integer n depending only on the condition (E) such that

(4.3)
$$\frac{1}{\mu(B \cap 4B^j)} \int_{B \cap 4B^j} \left| \widetilde{T} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n f \right|^2 d\mu \leqslant C \mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{loc}} (|f|^2)(x).$$

2) If $2 , then for <math>I - A_r = (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n$

(4.4)
$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B\cap 4B^j)}\int_{B\cap 4B^j}|\widetilde{T}A_rf|^p\,d\mu\right)^{1/p} \leq C\left(\mathcal{M}_{4B^j}\left(|\widetilde{T}f|^2\right) + (Sf)^2\right)^{1/2}(x)$$

with

(4.5)
$$(Sf)^2 = \mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{loc}}\left(|\widetilde{T}f|^2\chi_{(M\setminus 4B^j)}\right) + \mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{loc}}\left(|h|\right)^2 + \mathcal{M}_{4B^j}\left(|f|^2\right)$$

and $h = \int_0^\infty v(t) e^{-t\Delta} f \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}}$.

Admitting these inequalities, it remains to see that $||Sf||_{L^p(4B^j)} \leq C ||f||_{L^p(B^j)}$. By the study of II, we have that

$$\| \left(\mathcal{M}^{\text{loc}} \left(|\tilde{T}f|^2 \chi_{(M \setminus 4B^j)} \right) \right)^{1/2} \|_{L^p(4B^j)} \leqslant C \| |\tilde{T}f| \chi_{(M \setminus 4B^j)} \|_{L^p(M)} \leqslant C \| f \|_{L^p(B^j)}.$$

Next, by definition of h and the contraction property of the heat semigroup,

$$||h||_{L^p(M)} \leq c ||f||_{L^p(B^j)},$$

hence

$$\left\| \mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{loc}}(|h|) \right\|_{L^{p}(4B^{j})} \leq C \|f\|_{L^{p}(B^{j})}.$$

Finally, we conclude the argument by invoking the boundedness of \mathcal{M}_{4B^j} on $L^{p/2}(4B^j)$ to bound $\|(\mathcal{M}_{4B^j}(|f|^2))^{1/2}\|_p$.

Proof of (4.3). – Take a ball *B* centered in $4B^j$ with r = r(B) < 8 and let *x* be any point in $B \cap 4B^j$. By Lemma 4.1 we have $\mu(B) \leq C\mu(B \cap 4B^j)$ for some *C* independent of *B* and *j*. Hence,

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{\mu(B\cap 4B^j)} \int\limits_{B\cap 4B^j} \left| \widetilde{T}(I-e^{-r^2\Delta})^n f \right|^2 d\mu \\ &\leqslant \frac{C}{\mu(B)} \int\limits_B \left| \widetilde{T}(I-e^{-r^2\Delta})^n f \right|^2 d\mu \end{split}$$

and we follow the calculations of Section 3 with \widetilde{T} replacing $\nabla \Delta^{-1/2}$. Introduce i_r the integer defined by $2^{i_r}r < 8 \leq 2^{i_r+1}r$. Denote by C_i the ring $2^{i+1}B \setminus 2^iB$ if $i \geq 2$ and $C_1 = 4B$. Decompose f as $f_1 + f_2 + f_3 + \cdots + f_{i_r}$ with $f_i = f\chi_{C_i}$. The decomposition stops since f is supported in B^j and $4B^j \subset 2^iB$ when $i > i_r$. By Minkowski's inequality we have that

$$\left\| \left| \widetilde{T}(I - e^{-r^{2}\Delta})^{n} f \right| \right\|_{L^{2}(B)} \leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{i_{r}} \left\| \left| \widetilde{T}(I - e^{-r^{2}\Delta})^{n} f_{i} \right| \right\|_{L^{2}(B)}$$

For i = 1 we use the L^2 boundedness of $\widetilde{T}(I - e^{-r^2\Delta})^n$:

$$\left\| \left| \widetilde{T} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n f_1 \right| \right\|_{L^2(B)} \leq \|f\|_{L^2(4B)} \leq \mu(4B)^{1/2} \left(\mathcal{M}^{\text{loc}} \left(|f|^2 \right)(x) \right)^{1/2},$$

For $i \ge 2$ we use the definition of \widetilde{T} :

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{T}(I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n f &= \left| \int_0^\infty v(t) \nabla e^{-t\Delta} f(I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n \, \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}} \right| \\ &= \left| \int_0^\infty \widetilde{g}_r(t) \nabla e^{-t\Delta} f \, dt \right|, \end{split}$$

where using the usual notation for the binomial coefficient,

$$\tilde{g}_r(t) = \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} (-1)^k \frac{v(t-kr^2)}{\sqrt{t-kr^2}} \chi_{\{t>kr^2\}}.$$

 4^e série – tome $37 - 2004 - N^\circ 6$

By Minkowski's integral inequality and the Gaffney estimates (3.1) using the support of f_i , we have that

$$\left\| \left| \widetilde{T} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n f_i \right| \right\|_{L^2(B)} \leq C \int_0^\infty \left| \widetilde{g}_r(t) \right| e^{-\frac{\alpha' 4^{i_r 2}}{t}} \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}} \| f \|_{L^2(C_i)}.$$

The latter integral can be estimated as follows. Elementary analysis yields the following estimates for $\tilde{g}_r(t)$:

$$\begin{split} \left| \tilde{g}_r(t) \right| \leqslant \frac{C}{\sqrt{t - kr^2}} & \text{if } kr^2 < t \leqslant (k+1)r^2 \leqslant (n+1)r^2, \\ \left| \tilde{g}_r(t) \right| \leqslant Cr^{2n} & \text{if } (n+1)r^2 < t, \end{split}$$

and $\tilde{g}_r(t) = 0$ for $t \ge 1 + nr^2$. Hence

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \left| \tilde{g}_{r}(t) \right| e^{-\frac{\alpha' 4^{i} r^{2}}{t}} \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}} \leqslant C \min\{4^{-in}, r^{2n}\} = C 8^{-2n} r^{2n}.$$

Now, an easy consequence of local doubling and $r(2^iB) \leq 8$ when $1 \leq i \leq i_r$, is that

$$\mu(2^{i+1}B) \leq m(2^{i+1})\mu(B)$$

with $m(\theta) = C(1+\theta)^{\nu}$, C and ν independent of B and j. Therefore, as $C_i \subset 2^{i+1}B$,

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}(C_{i})} \leq \mu(2^{i+1}B)^{1/2} \left(\mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{loc}}(|f|^{2})(x)\right)^{1/2} \leq \sqrt{m(2^{i+1})} \mu(B)^{1/2} \left(\mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{loc}}(|f|^{2})(x)\right)^{1/2}.$$

Choosing $2n > \nu/2$ and using the definition of i_r and $r \leq 8$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \big\| \big| \widetilde{T} (I - e^{-r^2 \Delta})^n f \big| \big\|_{L^2(B)} &\leqslant C \sum_{i=1}^{i_r} 2^{i\nu/2} r^{2n} \mu(B)^{1/2} \big(\mathcal{M}^{\text{loc}} \big(|f|^2 \big)(x) \big)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant C \mu(B)^{1/2} \big(\mathcal{M}^{\text{loc}} \big(|f|^2 \big)(x) \big)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

Proof of (4.4). – We first establish the analog of Lemma 3.2: for every $p \in (2, p_0)$, for every ball *B* centered in $4B^j$ with radius r < 8 and every L^2 function *g* supported in $C_i = 2^{i+1}B \setminus 2^i B$ if $i \ge 2$ or $C_1 = 4B$ and every $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$, where *n* is chosen as above, one has

(4.6)
$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B \cap 4B^{j})} \int_{B \cap 4B^{j}} |\nabla e^{-kr^{2}\Delta}g|^{p} d\mu\right)^{1/p}$$
$$\leqslant \frac{Ce^{-\alpha 4^{i}}}{r} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)} \int_{C_{i}} |g|^{2} d\mu\right)^{1/2}$$

for some constants C and α depending only on (E), (P_{loc}), p and p₀.

The proof given in Section 3 can be copied *in extenso* provided we make three remarks. First, as in the previous argument since $\mu(B) \leq C\mu(B \cap 4B^j)$ we may replace $B \cap 4B^j$ by B in the left-hand side of (4.6). Second, as we already said, $p_t(x, y)$ satisfies the estimates (LY) for, say, $t = kr^2 \leq 64n$. Third, the polynomial volume growth is replaced by an exponential volume

growth but the estimates still carry out in this case thanks to the Gaussian terms in the sums. Further details are left to the reader.

Next, assume that $f \in L^2(B^j)$ and take $h = \int_0^\infty v(t)e^{-t\Delta}f\frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}}$. Since $\widetilde{T}f = |\nabla h|$ and according to the first remark above, it is enough to control

$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)}\int\limits_{B}|\nabla e^{-kr^{2}\Delta}h|^{p}\,d\mu\right)^{1/p}$$

Write $\nabla e^{-kr^2\Delta}h = \nabla e^{-kr^2\Delta}(h - h_{4B}) = \sum_{i \ge 1} \nabla e^{-kr^2\Delta}g_i$ where $g_i = (h - h_{4B})\chi_{C_i}$. Applying (4.6) to each g_i , we are reduced to estimating $(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)}\int_{C_i}|g_i|^2 d\mu)^{1/2}$. We distinguish the two regimes $i \le i_r$ and $i > i_r$ where i_r is the largest integer satisfying $2^i r < 8$. In the first regime, the argument in Section 3 using the local Poincaré inequalities for balls with radii not exceeding 16 can be repeated and (3.13) becomes

(4.7)
$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)}\int_{C_i}|g_i|^2\,d\mu\right)^{1/2} \leqslant C\sum_{\ell=1}^i (2^\ell r) \left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{\ell+1}B)}\int_{2^{\ell+1}B}|\nabla h|^2\,d\mu\right)^{1/2}$$

Write then

$$\frac{1}{\mu(2^{\ell+1}B)} \int_{2^{\ell+1}B} |\nabla h|^2 d\mu \leq \frac{1}{\mu(2^{\ell+1}B \cap 4B^j)} \int_{2^{\ell+1}B \cap 4B^j} |\nabla h|^2 d\mu + \frac{1}{\mu(2^{\ell+1}B)} \int_{2^{\ell+1}B} \chi_{(M \setminus 4B^j)} |\nabla h|^2 d\mu \leq \mathcal{M}_{4B^j} (|\nabla h|^2)(x) + \mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{loc}} (|\nabla h|^2 \chi_{(M \setminus 4B^j)})(x)$$

where x is any point in $B \cap 4B^j$. Hence the contribution of the terms in the first regime does not exceed

$$\sum_{1 \leqslant \ell \leqslant i \leqslant i_r} \frac{Ce^{-\alpha 4^i}}{r} (2^\ell r) \left(\mathcal{M}_{4B^j} \left(|\nabla h|^2 \right)(x) + \mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{loc}} \left(|\nabla h|^2 \chi_{(M \setminus 4B^j)} \right)(x) \right)^{1/2}.$$

For the second regime, we proceed directly by

$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)}\int\limits_{C_i}|g_i|^2\,d\mu\right)^{1/2} \leqslant \left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)}\int\limits_{C_i}|h|^2\,d\mu\right)^{1/2} + |h_{4B}|.$$

First $|h_{4B}| \leq \mathcal{M}^{\text{loc}}(|h|)(x)$ since B has radius less than 8. Next,

$$\int_{C_i} |h|^2 d\mu \leqslant \int_M |h|^2 d\mu \leqslant C \int_M |f|^2 d\mu = C \int_{4B^j} |f|^2 d\mu$$

since f is supported in $B^j \subset 4B^j$. Also since $i > i_r$ we have $2^{i+1}B \supset 4B^j$ and

$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu(2^{i+1}B)}\int_{C_i}|h|^2\,d\mu\right)^{1/2} \leqslant C\left(\frac{1}{\mu(4B^j)}\int_{4B^j}|f|^2\,d\mu\right)^{1/2} \leqslant C\left(\mathcal{M}_{4B^j}\left(|f|^2\right)(x)\right)^{1/2}.$$

 4^e Série – tome 37-2004 – $N^\circ\,\,6$

The contribution of the terms in the second regime is bounded above by

$$\sum_{i>i_r} \frac{Ce^{-\alpha 4^i}}{r} \left(\mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{loc}}\big(|h|\big)(x) + \left(\mathcal{M}_{4B^j}\big(|f|^2\big)(x)\right)^{1/2} \right) \right)$$

and it remains to recall that $1/r \leq 2^i/8$ when $i > i_r$ to conclude the proof of (4.4).

The proof of Theorem 1.5 is complete provided we prove Lemma 4.1 which we do now.

We begin with the first inequality. Fix $j \in J$, $x \in 4B^j$, r > 0. If $r \ge 8$, there is nothing to prove. We assume r < 8. There is a point x_* such that $B(x_*, r/8) \subset 4B^j$ and $d(x, x_*) \le 3r/8$. Indeed, if $d(x, x_j) \le 3r/8$ then $B(x, r/8) \subset 4B^j$, so that one can take $x_* = x$. Otherwise, since M is connected, there is a curve joining x and x_j whose length is smaller than, say, $d(x, x_j) + 2r/8$. On this curve, one can choose x_* such that $d(x, x_*) = 3r/8$, thus $d(x_*, x_j) \le d(x, x_j) - r/8$. The point x_* satisfies the required properties. Then one may write

$$\mu \big(B(x,2r) \cap 4B^j \big) \leqslant V(x,2r) \leqslant V(x_*,19r/8)$$
$$\leqslant CV(x_*,r/8) \leqslant C\mu \big(B(x,r) \cap 4B^j \big),$$

where one uses the local doubling property for balls with radii not exceeding 19. This proves the first inequality of the lemma and the proof of the second one is contained in the argument.

5. L^p Hodge decomposition for non-compact manifolds

The Hodge decomposition, which associates to a form its exact, co-exact and harmonic parts, is well-known to be bounded on L^2 on any complete Riemannian manifold (see for instance [29, Theorem 24, p. 165], and the recent survey [11]). The question of the L^p Hodge decomposition has been mainly examined on closed manifolds (see [86]) and domains therein [57]. On non-compact manifolds, the connection with the Riesz transform was established in the case of 1-forms and an example was treated in [92]. The unpublished manuscript [66] contains results for forms of all degrees in the case of manifolds with positive bottom of the spectrum; see also [67]. In the case of degree one, one can deduce more general results from Theorems 1.2 and 1.8. We denote by L^pT^*M the usual L^p space of 1-forms.

THEOREM 5.1. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying either (D), (P) and (G_{p_0}) for some $p_0 \in (2, \infty]$, or the assumptions of Theorem 1.8. Then the Hodge projector from 1-forms onto exact forms is bounded on L^pT^*M , for all $p \in (q_0, p_0)$ where q_0 is the conjugate exponent to p_0 .

Proof. - The projector on exact forms is

$$d\Delta^{-1}\delta = d\Delta^{-1/2} (d\Delta^{-1/2})^*.$$

Now $d\Delta^{-1/2}$ is bounded from $L^p(M,\mu)$ to L^pT^*M for all $p \in (q_0, p_0)$ by the results in [18] and Theorem 1.2 or Theorem 1.8, depending on the assumptions. By duality, $(d\Delta^{-1/2})^*$ is bounded from L^pT^*M to $L^p(M,\mu)$, for p in the same range, and the claim follows.

COROLLARY 5.2. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying either (D), (P) and (G_{p_0}) for some $p_0 \in (2, \infty]$, or the assumptions of Theorem 1.8. Let $p \in (q_0, p_0)$. Then the Hodge decomposition on 1-forms extends to L^pT^*M if one of the following additional assumptions holds:

- (a) *M* is a surface.
- (b) There are no L^p harmonic 1-forms.
- (c) The heat semigroup on 1-forms, $e^{-t\vec{\Delta}}$, is bounded on L^pT^*M uniformly in t > 0.

Proof. – Let $p \in (q_0, p_0)$. The projector on exact forms is bounded on L^pT^*M by Theorem 5.1. In case (a), we use an argument from [92]: in dimension 2, the projector on coexact forms is nothing but $d\Delta^{-1}\delta$ conjugated by the Hodge star operator, therefore it is also bounded on L^pT^*M . In cases (b) and (c), the projection on harmonic forms extends boundedly to L^pT^*M : In case (b), this projector is trivial by assumption, and in case (c), it is bounded because it is the limit of $e^{-t\vec{\Delta}}$ as $t \to \infty$. In all three cases, two out of the three projectors in the Hodge decomposition extend boundedly to L^pT^*M , therefore the whole decomposition is an L^p decomposition.

Since, on manifolds with non-negative Ricci curvature, the Riesz transform is bounded on L^p for all $p \in (1, \infty)$, and for all t > 0 and $\omega \in C^{\infty}T^*M$,

$$|e^{-t\Delta}\omega| \leqslant e^{-t\Delta}|\omega|,$$

the proofs of Theorem 5.1 and Corollary 5.2 show in particular that the Hodge decomposition extends to L^p on such manifolds. This fact seems known to experts, although we could not find it stated in the literature.

More generally, if the heat semigroup on forms on M is dominated by the heat semigroup on functions in the way discussed in Section 1.4:

(5.1)
$$|e^{-t\Delta}\omega| \leqslant C e^{-ct\Delta}|\omega|,$$

for some C, c > 0 and all t > 0 and $\omega \in C^{\infty}T^*M$, then both assumptions (b) (because there are no L^p harmonic functions on a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold, see [100]) and (c) are satisfied for all $p \in (1, \infty)$. It was proved in [20] (and it also follows from Theorem 1.4) that (D), (DUE) and (5.1) imply the boundedness of the Riesz transform for all $p \in (1, \infty)$. Therefore, we can state the following.

COROLLARY 5.3. – Let M be a complete non-compact Riemannian manifold satisfying (D), (DUE) and (5.1). Then the Hodge decomposition on 1-forms extends to L^pT^*M for all 1 .

A similar statement could be formulated, with suitable assumptions, for manifolds where the bottom of the spectrum is positive, by using Theorem 1.9.

Finally, recall that the L^p boundedness of the Hodge decomposition may be useful, together with other ingredients, to show that, in certains situations, $e^{-t\vec{\Delta}}$ cannot be contractive on L^pT^*M for all p (see [92, p. 77]; this problem was also considered in [93]). We will not pursue this here.

6. Final remarks

Our method should apply without major difficulties to some settings which had already been treated in the range 1 by the use of the method in [18]: graphs [82] and vector bundles [97]. In the first direction, some results already exist in the range <math>1 in the group case, see [33,55]. It should also be possible to cover the general setting of [88].

Other directions are left open by the present work. Since we work in the framework of singular integrals theory (and, in particular, use a volume growth assumption), the estimates we obtain do

depend on the dimension, contrary to the ones in [6,7]. To obtain dimension-free estimates, or to work in an infinite dimensional setting, is a subject in itself, and was achieved so far only in rather specific situations: see [90,73,78,23,30,77], and the references therein. Let us point out that this is an advantage of the approach to Riesz transform boundedness via the Littlewood–Paley theory, as in [6,7]. See also [20]. We do not see for the time being how to cumulate the advantages of both methods, which would yield a proof of the conjecture in [20].

We do not touch either the question of higher order Riesz transforms, whose boundedness would require much more regularity; recall that already for Lie groups with polynomial growth, even the L^2 boundedness of second order Riesz transforms only takes place on nilpotent groups and their compact extensions (see [1,38]).

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Marc Arnaudon, Gilles Carron, Ewa Damek, Brian Davies, Li Hong-Quan, Li Xiang-Dong, Noël Lohoué, Alan McIntosh, Michel Rumin and Laurent Saloff-Coste for useful discussions, references, questions or remarks. Thanks are also due to Sönke Blunck and Ishiwata Satoshi for reading carefully the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- ALEXOPOULOS G., An application of homogeneization theory to harmonic analysis: Harnack inequalities and Riesz transforms on Lie groups of polynomial growth, *Canad. J. Math.* 44 (4) (1992) 691–727.
- [2] AUSCHER P., On necessary and sufficient conditions for L^p -estimates of Riesz transforms associated to elliptic operators on \mathbb{R}^n and related estimates, preprint 2004-04, Université de Paris-Sud, Mathématiques.
- [3] AUSCHER P., HOFMANN S., LACEY M., MCINTOSH A., TCHAMITCHIAN P., The solution of the Kato square root problem for second order elliptic operators on \mathbb{R}^n , Annals of Math. 156 (2002) 633–654.
- [4] AUSCHER P., TCHAMITCHIAN P., Square Root Problem for Divergence Operators and Related Topics, Astérisque, vol. 249, 1998.
- [5] AUSCHER P., COULHON T., Riesz transforms on manifolds and Poincaré inequalities, preprint, 2004.
- [6] BAKRY D., Transformations de Riesz pour les semi-groupes symétriques, Seconde partie: étude sous la condition $\Gamma_2 \ge 0$, in: *Séminaire de Probabilités XIX*, in: Lecture Notes, vol. **1123**, Springer, Berlin, 1985, pp. 145–174.
- [7] BAKRY D., Étude des transformations de Riesz dans les variétés riemanniennes à courbure de Ricci minorée, in: Séminaire de Probabilités XXI, in: Lecture Notes, vol. 1247, Springer, Berlin, 1987, pp. 137–172.
- [8] BAKRY D., The Riesz transforms associated with second order differential operators, in: Seminar on Stochastic Processes, vol. 88, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1989.
- [9] BLUNCK S., KUNSTMANN P., Calderón–Zygmund theory for non-integral operators and the H^{∞} functional calculus, *Rev. Mat. Iberoamer.* **19** (3) (2003) 919–942.
- [10] CAFFARELLI L., PERAL I., On $W^{1,p}$ estimates for elliptic equations in divergence form, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **51** (1998) 1–21.
- [11] CARRON G., Formes harmoniques L² sur les variétés non-compactes, *Rend. Mat. Appl.* 7 (21) (2001)
 1–4, 87–119.
- [12] CHAVEL I., Riemannian Geometry: A Modern Introduction, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 108, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1993.
- [13] CHEN J.-C., Heat kernels on positively curved manifolds and applications, Ph. D. thesis, Hanghzhou university, 1987.
- [14] COIFMAN R., ROCHBERG R., Another characterization of BMO, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 79 (2) (1980) 249–254.

- [15] COIFMAN R., WEISS G., Extensions of Hardy spaces and their use in analysis, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 83 (1977) 569–645.
- [16] COULHON T., Noyau de la chaleur et discrétisation d'une variété riemannienne, Israel J. Math. 80 (1992) 289–300.
- [17] COULHON T., Off-diagonal heat kernel lower bounds without Poincaré, J. London Math. Soc. 68 (3) (2003) 795–816.
- [18] COULHON T., DUONG X.T., Riesz transforms for $1 \le p \le 2$, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **351** (1999) 1151–1169.
- [19] COULHON T., DUONG X.T., Riesz transforms for p > 2, *CRAS Paris, série I* **332** (11) (2001) 975–980.
- [20] COULHON T., DUONG X.T., Riesz transform and related inequalities on non-compact Riemannian manifolds, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 56 (12) (2003) 1728–1751.
- [21] COULHON T., GRIGOR'YAN A., PITTET CH., A geometric approach to on-diagonal heat kernel lower bounds on groups, Ann. Inst. Fourier 51 (6) (2001) 1763–1827.
- [22] COULHON T., LI H.Q., Estimations inférieures du noyau de la chaleur sur les variétés coniques et transformée de Riesz, Archiv der Mathematik 83 (2004) 229–242.
- [23] COULHON T., MÜLLER D., ZIENKIEWICZ J., About Riesz transforms on the Heisenberg groups, Math. Ann. 305 (2) (1996) 369–379.
- [24] COULHON T., SALOFF-COSTE L., Isopérimétrie pour les groupes et les variétés, *Rev. Mat. Iberoamer.* 9 (2) (1993) 293–314.
- [25] COULHON T., SIKORA A., Gaussian heat kernel bounds via Phragmén-Lindelöf theorems, preprint.
- [26] CRANSTON M., Gradient estimates on manifolds using coupling, J. Funct. Anal. 99 (1) (1991) 110– 124.
- [27] DAVIES E.B., Heat kernel bounds, conservation of probability and the Feller property, J. d'Analyse Math. 58 (1992) 99–119.
- [28] DAVIES E.B., Uniformly elliptic operators with measurable coefficients, *J. Funct. Anal.* **132** (1995) 141–169.
- [29] DE RHAM G., Variétés différentiables, formes, courants, formes harmoniques, 3ème edition, Hermann, Paris, 1973.
- [30] DRAGIČEVIĆ O., VOLBERG A., Bellman functions and dimensionless estimates of Riesz transforms, preprint.
- [31] DRIVER B., MELCHER T., Hypoelliptic heat kernel inequalities on the Heisenberg group, J. Funct. Anal., appeared online 11 September 2004.
- [32] DUNGEY N., Heat kernel estimates and Riesz transforms on some Riemannian covering manifolds, Math. Z. 247 (4) (2004) 765–794.
- [33] DUNGEY N., Riesz transforms on a discrete group of polynomial growth, Bull. London Math. Soc. 36 (6) (2004) 833–840.
- [34] DUNGEY N., Some gradient estimates on covering manifolds, preprint.
- [35] DUONG X.T., MCINTOSH A., Singular integral operators with non-smooth kernels on irregular domains, *Rev. Mat. Iberoamer.* 15 (2) (1999) 233–265.
- [36] DUONG X.T., ROBINSON D., Semigroup kernels, Poisson bounds and holomorphic functional calculus, J. Funct. Anal. 142 (1) (1996) 89–128.
- [37] DUONG X.T., YAN L.X., New function spaces of BMO type, John–Nirenberg inequality, interpolation and applications, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, in press.
- [38] TER ELST A.F.M., ROBINSON D.W., SIKORA A., Riesz transforms and Lie groups of polynomial growth, J. Funct. Anal. 162 (1) (1999) 14–51.
- [39] ELWORTHY K., LI X.-M., Formulae for the derivatives of heat semigroups, J. Funct. Anal. 125 (1) (1994) 252–286.
- [40] FELLER W., An Introduction to Probability Theory and its Applications, vol. I, Wiley, New York, 1968.
- [41] FEFFERMAN C., STEIN E., H^p spaces in several variables, Acta Math. 129 (1972) 137–193.
- [42] GAUDRY G., SJÖGREN P., Haar-like expansions and boundedness of a Riesz operator on a solvable Lie group, Math. Z. 232 (2) (1999) 241–256.

- [43] GRIGOR'YAN A., On stochastically complete manifolds, DAN SSSR 290 (3) (1986) 534–537, in Russian; English translation: Soviet Math. Doklady 34 (2) (1987) 310–313.
- [44] GRIGOR'YAN A., The heat equation on non-compact Riemannian manifolds, *Matem. Sbornik* 182 (1) (1991) 55–87, in Russian; English translation: *Math. USSR Sb.* 72 (1) (1992) 47–77.
- [45] GRIGOR'YAN A., Upper bounds of derivatives of the heat kernel on an arbitrary complete manifold, J. Funct. Anal. 127 (1995) 363–389.
- [46] GRIGOR'YAN A., Gaussian upper bounds for the heat kernel on arbitrary manifolds, J. Diff. Geom. 45 (1997) 33–52.
- [47] GRIGOR'YAN A., Estimates of heat kernels on Riemannian manifolds, in: B. Davies, Y. Safarov (Eds.), *Spectral Theory and Geometry*, in: London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Series, vol. 273, 1999, pp. 140–225.
- [48] HAJŁASZ P., Sobolev spaces on an arbitrary metric space, Pot. Anal. 5 (1996) 403-415.
- [49] HAJŁASZ P., KOSKELA P., Sobolev meets Poincaré, CRAS Paris 320 (1995) 1211-1215.
- [50] HAJŁASZ P., KOSKELA P., Sobolev met Poincaré, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 145 (2000) 688.
- [51] HEBISCH W., A multiplier theorem for Schrödinger operators, Coll. Math. 60/61 (1990) 659-664.
- [52] HEBISCH W., STEGER T., Multipliers and singular integrals on exponential growth groups, Math. Z. 245 (2003) 35–61.
- [53] HOFMANN S., MARTELL J.M., L^p bounds for Riesz transforms and square roots associated to second order elliptic operators, *Publ. Mat.* 47 (2) (2003) 497–515.
- [54] ISHIWATA S., A Berry–Esseen type theorem on a nilpotent covering graph, *Canad. J. Math.*, submitted for publication.
- [55] ISHIWATA S., Asymptotic behavior of a transition probability for a random walk on a nilpotent covering graph, in: *Discrete Geometric Analysis*, in: Contemp. Math., vol. 347, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004, pp. 57–68.
- [56] IWANIEC T., The Gehring lemma, in: *Quasiconformal Mappings and Analysis (Ann Arbor, MI, 1995)*, Springer, New York, 1998, pp. 181–204
- [57] IWANIEC T., SCOTT C., STROFFOLINI B., Nonlinear Hodge theory on manifolds with boundary, Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata, IV CLXXVII (1999) 37–115.
- [58] LI H.-Q., La transformation de Riesz sur les variétés coniques, J. Funct. Anal. 168 (1999) 145–238.
- [59] LI H.-Q., Estimations du noyau de la chaleur sur les variétés coniques et ses applications, Bull. Sci. Math. 124 (5) (2000) 365–384.
- [60] LI H.-Q., Analyse sur les variétés cuspidales, Math. Ann. 326 (2003) 625-647.
- [61] LI H.-Q., LOHOUÉ N., Transformées de Riesz sur une classe de variétés à singularités coniques, J. Math. Pures Appl. 82 (2003) 275–312.
- [62] LI J., Gradient estimate for the heat kernel of a complete Riemannian manifold and its applications, J. Funct. Anal. 97 (1991) 293–310.
- [63] LI P., YAU S.T., On the parabolic kernel of the Schrödinger operator, Acta Math. 156 (1986) 153– 201.
- [64] LI X.D., Riesz transforms and Schrödinger operators on complete Riemannian manifolds with negative Ricci curvature, preprint.
- [65] LOHOUÉ N., Comparaison des champs de vecteurs et des puissances du laplacien sur une variété riemannienne à courbure non positive, J. Funct. Anal. 61 (2) (1985) 164–201.
- [66] LOHOUÉ N., Estimation des projecteurs de de Rham-Hodge de certaines variétés riemanniennes non compactes, unpublished manuscript, 1984.
- [67] LOHOUÉ N., Inégalités de Sobolev pour les formes différentielles sur une variété riemannienne, CRAS Paris, série I 301 (6) (1985) 277–280.
- [68] LOHOUÉ N., Transformées de Riesz et fonctions de Littlewood–Paley sur les groupes non moyennables, CRAS Paris, série 1 306 (1988) 327–330.
- [69] LOHOUÉ N., MUSTAPHA S., Sur les transformées de Riesz sur les espaces homogènes des groupes de Lie semi-simples, Bull. Soc. Math. France 128 (4) (2000) 485–495.
- [70] LOHOUÉ N., MUSTAPHA S., Sur les transformées de Riesz sur les groupes de Lie moyennables et sur certains espaces homogènes, *Canad. J. Math.* 50 (5) (1998) 1090–1104.
- [71] MARIAS M., RUSS E., H¹-boundedness of Riesz transforms and imaginary powers of the Laplacian on Riemannian manifolds, *Ark. Mat.* **41** (1) (2003) 115–132.

- [72] MARTELL J.M., Sharp maximal functions associated with approximations of the identity in spaces of homogeneous type and applications, Studia Math. 161 (2) (2004) 113-145.
- [73] MEYER P.-A., Transformations de Riesz pour les lois gaussiennes, in: Séminaire de Probabilités XVIII, in: Lecture Notes, vol. 1059, Springer, Berlin, 1984, pp. 179–193.
- [74] MEYER Y., Ondelettes et opérateurs, tome II, Hermann, Paris, 1990.
- [75] MEYERS N.G., An L^p estimate for the gradient of solutions of second order elliptic divergence equations, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa 3 (17) (1963) 189-206.
- [76] PICARD J., Gradient estimates for some diffusion semigroups, Probab. Theory Related Fields 122 (2002) 593-612.
- [77] PIQUARD F., Riesz transforms on generalized Heisenberg groups and Riesz transforms associated to the CCR heat flow, Publ. Mat. 48 (2) (2004) 309-333.
- [78] PISIER G., Riesz transforms: a simpler analytic proof of P.A. Meyer's inequality, in: Séminaire de Probabilités XXII, in: Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1321, Springer, Berlin, 1988, pp. 485-501.
- [79] QIAN Z., Gradient estimates and heat kernel estimates, Proc. Royal Soc. Edinburgh 125A (1995) 975–990.
- [80] RUMIN M., Differential geometry on C-C spaces and application to the Novikov-Shubin numbers of nilpotent Lie groups, CRAS Paris, série I 329 (11) (1999) 985-990.
- [81] RUMIN M., Around heat decay on forms and relations of nilpotent Lie groups, in: Séminaire de théorie spectrale et géométrie de Grenoble, vol. 19, 2000-2001, pp. 123-164.
- [82] RUSS E., Riesz transforms on graphs, Math. Scand. 87 (1) (2000) 133-160.
- [83] SALOFF-COSTE L., Analyse sur les groupes de Lie à croissance polynomiale, Ark. Mat. 28 (1990) 315-331.
- [84] SALOFF-COSTE L., A note on Poincaré, Sobolev and Harnack inequalities, Duke J. Math. 65 (1992) 27–38, I.R.M.N.
- [85] SALOFF-COSTE L., Parabolic Harnack inequality for divergence form second order differential operators, Pot. Anal. 4 (4) (1995) 429-467.
- [86] SCOTT C., L^p theory of differential forms on manifolds, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 347 (1995) 2075– 2096.
- [87] SHEN Z., Bounds of Riesz transforms on L^p spaces for second order elliptic operators, Ann. Inst. Fourier, in press.
- [88] SIKORA A., Riesz transform, Gaussian bounds and the method of wave equation, Math. Z. 247 (3) (2004) 643-662.
- [89] STEIN E.M., Topics in harmonic analysis related to the Littlewood-Paley theory, Princeton UP, 1970.
- [90] STEIN E.M., Some results in harmonic analysis in \mathbb{R}^n for $n \to \infty$, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 9 (1983) 71–73.
- [91] STEIN E.M., Harmonic Analysis, Real-Variable Methods, Orthogonality, and Oscillatory Integrals, Princeton UP, 1993.
- [92] STRICHARTZ R., Analysis of the Laplacian on the complete Riemannian manifold, J. Funct. Anal. 52 (1983) 48-79.
- [93] STRICHARTZ R., L^p contractive projections and the heat semigroup for differential forms, J. Funct. Anal. 65 (1986) 348-357.
- [94] STROOCK D., Applications of Fefferman-Stein type interpolation to probability and analysis, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. XXVI (1973) 477–495.
- [95] STROOCK D., TURETSKY J., Upper bounds on derivatives of the logarithm of the heat kernel, Comm. Anal. Geom. 6 (4) (1998) 669-685.
- [96] THALMAIER A., WANG F.-Y., Gradient estimates for harmonic functions on regular domains in Riemannian manifolds, J. Funct. Anal. 155 (1) (1998) 109-124.
- [97] THALMAIER A., WANG F.-Y., Derivative estimates of semigroups and Riesz transforms on vector bundles, Pot. Anal. 20 (2) (2004) 105-123.
- [98] VAROPOULOS N., Analysis on Lie groups, J. Funct. Anal. 76 (1988) 346-410.
- [99] VAROPOULOS N., Random walks and Brownian motion on manifolds, in: Analisi Armonica, Spazi Simmetrici e Teoria della Probabilità, in: Symposia Math., vol. XXIX, 1987, pp. 97-109.

[100] YAU S.T., Some function-theoretic properties of complete Riemannian manifolds and their applications to geometry, *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 25 (1976) 659–670.

> (Manuscrit reçu le 10 mars 2004 ; accepté le 4 octobre 2004.)

Pascal AUSCHER Université de Paris-Sud, et CNRS, UMR 8628, Département de Mathématiques, Bâtiment 425, 91405 Orsay cedex, France E-mail: pascal.auscher@math.u-psud.fr

Thierry COULHON Université de Cergy-Pontoise, et CNRS, UMR 8088, Département de Mathématiques, 2, avenue Adolphe Chauvin, 95302 Cergy-Pontoise cedex, France E-mail: Thierry.Coulhon@math.u-cergy.fr

> Xuan Thinh DUONG Department of Mathematics Macquarie University, North Ryde, Sydney, NSW 2109, Australia E-mail: duong@ics.mq.edu.au

Steve HOFMANN Department of Mathematics University of Missouri, Columbia, MO 65201, USA E-mail: hofmann@math.missouri.edu